
References to Enslaved or Free Black People at Oatlands and Bellefield or Related to Oatlands and Bellefield

Sorted Alphabetically

Last Updated: 23 January 2021

Transcription Methodology:

The entries were transcribed word-for-word from the original except in cases where a misspelling was obvious.

Standard genealogical practices were folowed. No assumptions were made between various spellings of a name.  For example, the names Fan, Fann, Fanny, and Fannie were not assumed to be

           the same person and were not combined or changed to be the same spelling.

The entries from Elizabeth O. Carter's diary were often challenging because she abbreviated names. But she was fairly consistent in referring to African Americans by their first name only.

          Certain people were exceptions, such as Jacob and Sophia Howard.
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Month & Day
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Year Source Location Reference Notes

hands

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Candy, for hands.  $1.75

hands EOC diary transcription July 10 1863 Oatlands Archives The hands gone to help Mr. Ayers cut wheat.

hands EOC diary transcription July 12 1860 Oatlands Archives

Uncle Charles & the Harvest hands returned 

from Bellefield.

Unclear if "Uncle Charles" was an enslaved 

man

hands EOC diary transcription August 3 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent two hands to stack [wheat] for Mr. Wornal

hands EOC diary transcription July 3 1864 Oatlands Archives

The hands finished harvest. Then went off and 

staid [sic] five days without permission.

Abby EOC diary transcription April 4 1862 Oatlands Archives Abby very sick.

Abby EOC diary transcription February 1 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Bronaugh to see Abby.

Abby EOC diary transcription February 3 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Bronaugh to see Abby.

Abby EOC diary transcription February 4 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Bronaugh to see Abby.

Abby EOC diary transcription February 12 1864 Oatlands Archives Abby + child walked off.

Abby EOC diary transcription February 13 1864 Oatlands Archives Abby walked to Oatlands.

Unclear why Abby left and walked to 

Oatlands. Did she have family there?

Abednego

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Adam

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 November 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born in Loudoun - mother Sallie - 

informant: mistress [E.O.Carter]

Aggy (Ellen's child) EOC diary transcription November 28 1860 Oatlands Archives Ellen had a child - girl called Aggy

Alanda Day

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Alanda & Gerrard Day

Alfred EOC diary transcription September 11 1861 Oatlands Archives Alfred better.
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Month & Day

Source 

Year Source Location Reference Notes

Alfred EOC diary transcription September 15 1861 Oatlands Archives Alfred better.

Alfred EOC diary transcription September 2 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton, Alfred & Pat sick with Measles.

Alfred EOC diary transcription September 4 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. J. to see Alfred.

Alfred EOC diary transcription September 9 1861 Oatlands Archives Alfred better.

Alfred EOC diary transcription March 10 1862 Oatlands Archives

Aunt & I went as far as U. [Upperville] with the 

boys - they go in a Spring Wagon, driven by 

Alfred to Warrenton….

Alfred EOC diary transcription March 4 1862 Oatlands Archives Alfred went to O. to move some things up.

Alfred EOC diary transcription August 14 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent BGC three pairs of drawers by Alfred.

Alfred EOC diary transcription May 27 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent George his mare to Oatlands by Alfred.

Alfred EOC diary transcription March 17 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent George by Alfred eight bushels potatoes 

[and] one Jar of Brandy Peaches.

Alfred EOC diary transcription January 3 1870 Oatlands Archives

Sent my two carriages Mares by Alfred to 

Bellefield to stay till sent for.

Alfred EOC diary transcription June 19 1870 Oatlands Archives

George + Kate dismissed Eliza + Alfred[,] Louisa + 

Amelia all for impertinance.

Alice EOC diary transcription May 12 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Alice.

Note Dec. 28, 1867 entry referring to Alice 

as Fan's daughter.

Alice EOC diary transcription December 15 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Alice with a note to Mrs. Carter from Mrs. 

Powell.

Alice EOC diary transcription October 10 1865 Oatlands Archives

Delia + Alice went with Jake to the Tournament 

at Bloomfield.

Alice EOC diary transcription December 28 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan got in her airs again and walked off + I 

dismissed her daughter Alice for Impertinence to 

me.

Alice EOC diary transcription June 11 1867 Oatlands Archives Fan + Alice very insolent to me.

Alice EOC diary transcription March 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Give Alice an order to have her shoes mended 

also Delia.

Alla [Ally]

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

chosen as a maid agreeable [as per] the will - age 

20 - value $350 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Ally

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Ally and her children Ally Basil Bryant

Allie

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Allie - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

Mother was Allie/Ally Basil Bryant. 

Probably a duplicate of the June 1858 birth

Amelia EOC diary transcription June 19 1870 Oatlands Archives

George + Kate dismissed Eliza + Alfred[,] Louisa + 

Amelia all for impertinance.
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Amelia EOC diary transcription March 22 1870 Oatlands Archives

EOC had a mattress made.  Paid Amelia fifty cts 

for a day's work.

Amelia is possibly Amelia Mason, 

enumerated in the 1870 Federal Census 

living with her family near Oatlands.

Amelia EOC diary transcription March 29 1870 Oatlands Archives Amelia is making a small mattress for me.

Andison EOC diary transcription August 8 1865 Oatlands Archives

Gave Armistead pants + shirts. Andison + Jake 

the same.

Andison EOC diary transcription February 22 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Andison to Upperville with Mittie's work.

Andrew

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Andrew EOC diary transcription December 28 1869 Oatlands Archives

Andrew took Armestead off to Merriland 

[Maryland].

Andrew EOC diary transcription September 2 1869 Oatlands Archives

Got a letter from BGC his grey mare was not to 

be found.  Andrew come to hunt for her.

Andrew EOC diary transcription December 27 1870 Oatlands Archives

Sent Susan five large Cakes by Andrew + some 

Sausage.

Andrew EOC diary transcription October 6 1870 Oatlands Archives Andrew drove to Oatlands.

Andrew EOC diary transcription April 4 1871 Oatlands Archives Andrew went to Oatlands.

Ann

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Anne EOC diary transcription January 13 1865 Oatlands Archives

Hired Anne to RE Leake for ten dollars in green 

back + to be well cloathed [sic-clothed].

Anne EOC diary transcription January 14 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Anne to Mr. Leake by Sam.

Annie EOC diary transcription January 8 1864 Oatlands Archives

Manly Newlin is to have Annie for her bored 

[board] + clothes[.] three suits[.] one when he 

gets her [,] one in the summer + one at the end 

of the year.

Annie EOC diary transcription January 9 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Annie to Mr. Newlin with a very large piece 

of rag carpet for a bed.

Annie EOC diary transcription January 1 1868 Oatlands Archives [Hired] Annie at five dollars a Month.

Annie EOC diary transcription January 2 1868 Oatlands Archives

Fan + three boys with Tener are to stay with me 

at one hundred dollars a year.  I cloathe Fan + 

Teaner + she cloaths the three boys.  I like Annie 

very much so far.

Annie EOC diary transcription July 2 1868 Oatlands Archives Annie shot A.G. Cary pistol off in his room.

Annie EOC diary transcription June 1 1868 Oatlands Archives

Let Annie have Eight Yds plaid cotton 28 cts pr 

yd 6 yds brown 25 cts yd.

Annie EOC diary transcription June 18 1868 Oatlands Archives Annie working the walk over before breakfast.
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Annie EOC diary transcription May 18 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Annie fifteen dollars May 18th + paid her 

five $ in March.

Annie Warner EOC diary transcription March 3 1868 Oatlands Archives Paid Annie Warner five dollars on wages.

This is Annie referred to in the January 1, 

1868 entry.

Anthony

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Anthony, for extra ploughing.  .50

Armestead [Armistead] EOC diary transcription July 28 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Armestead [Armistead] to Oatlands.

Armestead EOC diary transcription November 13 1864 Oatlands Archives

Armestead brought Mr. Grogan's horse from 

Oatlands.

Armestead EOC diary transcription December 22 1866 Oatlands Archives Armestead came with letters from B.G.C.

Armestead EOC diary transcription December 23 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Armestead back to B.G.C. with some 

smoked sausage.

Armestead EOC diary transcription November 9 1866 Oatlands Archives

Gave Armestead a pair of Boots + his winter 

clothes.

Armestead EOC diary transcription September 2 1866 Oatlands Archives

Armestead came from Ben's with a letter to me 

asking me for money.

Armestead EOC diary transcription April 27 1867 Oatlands Archives

Jake + Armestead planted Mellons [sic - melons] 

for my Sister.

Armestead EOC diary transcription July 12 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Armistead to Oatlands.

Armestead EOC diary transcription March 16 1867 Oatlands Archives Got shoes for Armestead.

Armestead EOC diary transcription March 25 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Armestead to Oakley.

Armestead EOC diary transcription May 13 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Armestead to BGC with a letter + a bundle 

for Milly + a dress for Bennie.

Armestead EOC diary transcription May 14 1867 Oatlands Archives

EOC rode to Upperville + got Armestead a suit of 

cloaths.

Armestead EOC diary transcription May 16 1867 Oatlands Archives BGC sent me a fine fresh shad by Armestead.

Armestead EOC diary transcription June 11 1868 Oatlands Archives Armestead plowing.

Armestead EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.

Armestead EOC diary transcription May 25 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Oatlands.  Made Armestead put the 

walk in nice order.  Paid Julius one $ for four 

chickens.

[Armestead?] EOC diary transcription December 15 1869 Oatlands Archives Sent A to Oatlands. This could be Armestead

Armestead EOC diary transcription December 28 1869 Oatlands Archives

Andrew took Armestead off to Merriland 

[Maryland].
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Armestead EOC diary transcription November 4 1869 Oatlands Archives

Got Jake + Armestead spading + piting [putting] 

up the Garden. Set Armestead to work in the 

Garden.

Armestead EOC diary transcription October 23 1869 Oatlands Archives Sent Armestead to Oatlands.

Armistead EOC diary transcription August 8 1865 Oatlands Archives

Gave Armistead pants + shirts. Andison + Jake 

the same.

Armistead EOC diary transcription December 6 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius + Armistead to Oatlands for Salt.

Armistead EOC diary transcription April 12 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius Armistead the cart with two bushels 

potatoes + twenty Turkeys eggs.

Armistead EOC diary transcription March 31 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius + Armestead with ox cart + cow to 

Ben to haul earth for his garden from the Creek.

Aunt Hagar EOC diary transcription March 30 1861 Oatlands Archives Aunt Hagar sick

Aunt Hagar was probably an enslaved 

woman and EOC was using the term "Aunt" 

to signify age

Aunt Hagar EOC diary transcription September 23 1862 Oatlands Archives Aunt Hagar came up

Bazil EOC diary transcription December 28 1862 Oatlands Archives Bazil went back to O. [Oatlands] with letters + c. Bazil Turner

Bazel EOC diary transcription April 25 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent G fifteen $ by Bazel.

"G" is her son, George. Bazel is Bazil 

Turner.

Bazel EOC diary transcription July 28 1864 Oatlands Archives Bazel took the wagon home.

Bazil/Bazel EOC diary transcription September 3 1864 Oatlands Archives

Bazil from O [Oatlands] says he was robbed by 

two S, Solders [sic-soldiers] of sixty dollar of 

George's money sent by him to Mr. Harrison.

Bazsel (Bazel) EOC diary transcription May 27 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Bazsel to Oatlands.

Bazel EOC diary transcription May 30 1865 Oatlands Archives

Bazel brought the wagon for dear Katie to go to 

Oatlands.

Bazel EOC diary transcription May 10 1866 Oatlands Archives Bazel came with pepper + Tomatoe plants

Beach

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Beach, for calf skin. $2.00

Beach

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Beach, for mending Rosina's shoes.  .50

Becky (Sarah's child) EOC diary transcription January 24 1861 Oatlands Archives Sarah had a child - girl called "Becky"

Ben

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Ben, for bringing up salt.  .25

Betsy

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Betsy and her children with their increase

Betsy EOC diary transcription February 12 1870 Oatlands Archives Kate paid Betsy six dollars for one month.
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Betsy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Betsy, bal. on ducks.  .10

Betsy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Dr. Hutchinson medical care for Betsy.  $16.50

Beverly

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 November 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at Oatlands - mother Dinah - 

informant: Miss Grayson [online index lists 

owner as E.O. Carter] Probably Dinah Bryant Day

Bill

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Bill EOC diary transcription January 12 1861 Oatlands Archives Billy from Bellefield

Bill EOC diary transcription April 1 1862 Oatlands Archives Bill ran off in the night on one of the horses.

Bill EOC diary transcription March 31 1862 Oatlands Archives

Julius + Bill came from O. report the house to 

have been searched by the Yankees.

Bill EOC diary transcription August 7 1865 Oatlands Archives Bill took his two Children away Charles + Rose.

Billy EOC diary transcription November 1 1860 Oatlands Archives

Aunt sent Billy to Oatlands, + by him a check for 

$200 for Mr. W.A. Powell + a $100 check for Dr. 

A. Powell.

Billy EOC diary transcription November 2 1860 Oatlands Archives Billy returned from O. with Aunt's clothes & c.

Billy EOC diary transcription September 2 1860 Oatlands Archives Billy brought 21 lbs. of butter from Oatlands

Billy EOC diary transcription February 9 1861 Oatlands Archives Billy brought butter from B. [Bellefield]

Billy EOC diary transcription June 6 1861 Oatlands Archives Billy brought chickens & c. from Bellefield.

Billy EOC diary transcription June 7 1861 Oatlands Archives Billy carried Lime to B. [Bellefield] Lime was plaister used for fertilizer

Billy EOC diary transcription May 4 1861 Oatlands Archives Billy brought 4 rolls butter down.

Billy EOC diary transcription December 12 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Billy to Oatlands with the Carriage for Ben + 

Margaret to come home.

Billy EOC diary transcription February 24 1863 Oatlands Archives

Billy came from O. [Oatlands] + tells us poor old 

Charles died on Friday.

Billy EOC diary transcription November 25 1863 Oatlands Archives

Robert + Billy went to Berlin with sixty bushels 

wheat.

Billy EOC diary transcription October 11 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Billy to Oatlands

Billy EOC diary transcription October 13 1863 Oatlands Archives

Billy came from Oat [Oatlands] + brought grapes 

+ peaches.

Billy EOC diary transcription January 16 1864 Oatlands Archives Billy came from Oatlands.

Billy EOC diary transcription March 23 1864 Oatlands Archives Billy sick.

Billy EOC diary transcription April 1 1864 Oatlands Archives Billy came from Oatlands.

Billy EOC diary transcription April 4 1864 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Billy.
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Billy EOC diary transcription April 5 1864 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Billy.

Billy EOC diary transcription April 8 1864 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see P + Billy. "P" is probably Patrick

Billy EOC diary transcription May 29 1865 Oatlands Archives Billy demanded wages.

Billy EOC diary transcription December 31 1867 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Harrison sent Billy to say he wished I would 

have George's hog brought home + not let him 

trouble him + not let him eat his Corn.

Billy EOC diary transcription February 4 1868 Oatlands Archives Sent Mr. H. a partridge by Billy.

Billy EOC diary transcription January 17 1868 Oatlands Archives Sent Mr. Harrison Cranberries by Billy.

Billy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Bruce

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 September 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Sarah - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

Bruce

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 March 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at Oatlands - mother Sarah - 

informant: Miss Grayson - [85:24 (106)]

Bushrod

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Bushrod

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands of croup - age 6 months - 

parent Susan - born at Oatlands - source: Miss 

Grayson

Canes

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Celia

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Celia EOC diary transcription December 6 1860 Oatlands Archives Celia had a boy - named Evan

Celia EOC diary transcription October 15 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. Cross to see Celia who has measles.

Celia EOC diary transcription October 16 1861 Oatlands Archives Celia died suddenly in the night.

Charles

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Charles, his wife & children and their increase

Charles EOC diary transcription July 7 1860 Oatlands Archives

Charles came down from Bellfield [sic] to send 

some hands up to assist in the harvest there. Unclear if Charles was an enslaved man

Charles EOC diary transcription October 18 1860 Oatlands Archives

Charles came from O. brought Aunt's new trunk. 

Vegetables & fruit.

Charles EOC diary transcription February 12 1861 Oatlands Archives Charles brought 4 turkies from Bellefield.

Charles EOC diary transcription August 21 1862 Oatlands Archives Charles brought grapes & c. [etc.] from Oatlands

Charles EOC diary transcription August 6 1862 Oatlands Archives Charles came from Oatlands
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Charles EOC diary transcription October 20 1862 Oatlands Archives Charles came from O.

Charles EOC diary transcription September 3 1862 Oatlands Archives Charles brought fruit & c. from O. [Oatlands]

Charles EOC diary transcription February 24 1863 Oatlands Archives

Billy came from O. [Oatlands] + tells us poor old 

Charles died on Friday.

Charles might be Eve's father. See January 

28 entry where she went down "to see her 

father, who is low"

Charles EOC diary transcription March 23 1868 Oatlands Archives

George sent Charles with a letter to say that his 

Brother was better + had got home.

Charles EOC diary transcription March 27 1868 Oatlands Archives Sent Charles to Oatlands.

Charles EOC diary transcription August 6 1869 Oatlands Archives

Sent to George by Charles a check on Berke 

Herbert + Co. for Zeb English to take up my note.  

$571.32/100

Charles EOC diary transcription November 11 1869 Oatlands Archives Got a letter from George + Kate by Charles.

Charles EOC diary transcription November 12 1869 Oatlands Archives

Sent Charles home.  Sent Georgie two pairs of 

stockings by Charles.

Charles EOC diary transcription October 1 1869 Oatlands Archives Sent Charles home. Got a letter from dear Kate.

Charles EOC diary transcription May 20 1870 Oatlands Archives Sent Charles to Oakley.

Charles EOC diary transcription May 23 1870 Oatlands Archives Charles came from Oakley.

Charles (Bill's child) EOC diary transcription August 7 1865 Oatlands Archives Bill took his two Children away Charles + Rose.

Uncle Charles EOC diary transcription July 12 1860 Oatlands Archives

Uncle Charles & the Harvest hands returned 

from Bellefield.

Unclear if "Uncle Charles" was an enslaved 

man

Charley EOC diary transcription December 11 1867 Oatlands Archives George sent Charley up.

Charlie EOC diary transcription January 28 1863 Oatlands Archives

Eve went down to see her father, who is very 

low. Charlie & Solomon went to stay.

Charlie EOC diary transcription January 12 1866 Oatlands Archives Charlie came from Oatlands with letters.

Charlie EOC diary transcription January 13 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Charlie back.

Charlie EOC diary transcription December 14 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius with Charlie to take the Mare George 

bought of Robert Costelloe.

Charlie

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Swarm of bees purchased of Charlie.  $1.00

Chilton EOC diary transcription November 22 1860 Oatlands Archives

Chilton brought the Bags & a box from the 

Depot.

Chilton EOC diary transcription February 16 1866 Oatlands Archives

Hannah got a letter from Chilton her husband 

advising her to remain with her Miss Betsy for it 

was a good home for her.

Chilton EOC diary transcription May 13 1866 Oatlands Archives Chilton took his departure.

Chilton EOC diary transcription September 9 1866 Oatlands Archives Hannah went to Alexandria to see Chilton.

Page 8 of 49



Name Source

Source 

Month & Day

Source 

Year Source Location Reference Notes

Cissy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Cissy, for cabbage seed.  .13

Clara EOC diary transcription July 20 1861 Oatlands Archives Clara has a boy. Called Tasker. Tasker is a Carter family name.

Collins EOC diary transcription December 11 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Collins to Oakley for a horse for Katie.

Collins EOC diary transcription June 22 1863 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Collins.

Collins EOC diary transcription November 8 1863 Oatlands Archives

I walked out + left Collins in the Dining [room] to 

see that the fire did not fall + in five minutes I 

heard the report of a gun and on going in the 

house found he had shot a Gun at the picture of 

Poll potters Bull[.] burnt his face a little.

Collins EOC diary transcription February 15 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Collins to O [Oatlands] for butter.  Mr. G. 

went with Collins. Mr. G. = Mr. Gillespie

Collins EOC diary transcription February 16 1864 Oatlands Archives Collins came from Oatlands with butter.

Collins EOC diary transcription February 8 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Collins to Oatlands with a note to Katie.

Collins EOC diary transcription November 21 1864 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Briscoe paid me one hundred $ in green 

backs hire for Collins.

Collins was an enslaved man who was hired 

by Mr. Briscoe, one of Mosby's Rangers.

Collins EOC diary transcription November 9 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Collins to Oatlands.

Collins EOC diary transcription September 5 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Collins to head quarters for beef but could 

get non [sic].

Collins EOC diary transcription September 6 1864 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Briscoe came with Collins + drove a beef to 

be killed.

Collins EOC diary transcription February 1 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Collins to Upperville to see how dear little 

Bess is.

Collins EOC diary transcription October 14 1865 Oatlands Archives Collins came with a letter.

Collins EOC diary transcription October 7 1865 Oatlands Archives George sent Collins with a letter.

Collins EOC diary transcription October 8 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Collins to Oatlands.

Collins EOC diary transcription January 15 1866 Oatlands Archives

Collins brought the beef + Heifer for Mrs. Powell 

in exchange for a???

Collins EOC diary transcription January 24 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Collins to the post office.

Collins EOC diary transcription May 19 1866 Oatlands Archives Collins came with a letter from George.

Collins EOC diary transcription October 14 1866 Oatlands Archives Collins brought me one quart of Chestnuts.

Collins EOC diary transcription August 19 1867 Oatlands Archives

Found Collins at four OCL [o'clock] in the 

morning at my Window looking in. I told him 

what I thought of him.

Collins EOC diary transcription June 6 1868 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Costelo found Collins hid up stairs under the 

Bed in the Girls room.
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Collins?? EOC diary transcription September 13 1866 Oatlands Archives Collins came from Oatlands with the Oxen.

Colly EOC diary transcription October 27 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Colly to Oakley with my Saddle to be sent 

to Oatlands for Katie.

Colly EOC diary transcription September 9 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Colly to Oakley Colly is Collins

Colly [Collins?] EOC diary transcription December 16 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Colly to see Dr. Powell. Colly was Collins

Cuffy

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Cuffy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Cuffy, for pk. Sweet potatoes.  .15

Daniel

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 10 - value $275 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Daniel

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 14, son of Maria Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Daniel

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Daniel, for rabbit.  .13

Daphne EOC diary transcription December 29 1860 Oatlands Archives Mr. Rogers to hire Mary & Daphne

Shows the practice of hiring our enslaved 

people at the end of the year

Daphne EOC diary transcription January 31 1863 Oatlands Archives

Mrs. Benton has taken Daphne + Effie for the 

term of five years.

Daphne EOC diary transcription January 29 1864 Oatlands Archives

Let Mrs. Benton have Daphne for 4 years for her 

bord [board] + cloaths [clothes].

Davy

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 14 - value $475 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Five days work, Davy.  $1.50

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Davy, to buy him a pr. shoes (no sum stated)

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Davy, for working on holidays.  $5.00

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Davy, for making 2 brooms.  .40
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Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Davy, for two chickens.  .25

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Davy, for 7 partridges.  $1.00

Davy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Davy, for his hog.  $6.00

Delia EOC diary transcription January 2 1862 Oatlands Archives Sent Delia to Mrs. White in Middleburg.

Delia might have been Delia Jackson, age 

23, in the 1870 Census.

Delia EOC diary transcription December 25 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Delia to Upperville with things for B.G.C.

Delia EOC diary transcription December 29 1863 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Singleton hired Delia for 1864.  Price twenty-

five dollars.

Shows the practice of hiring our enslaved 

people at the end of the year

Delia EOC diary transcription November 3 1863 Oatlands Archives

Mrs. Lanham sent me two chickens. Sent her by 

Delia a plate of lard. Is this Delia Jackson in the 1870 census?

Delia EOC diary transcription April 11 1864 Oatlands Archives John Singleton to settle for Delia's hire.

Delia EOC diary transcription January 1 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Delia to Mr. Singleton.

Delia EOC diary transcription February 21 1865 Oatlands Archives Delia had a male child said to white.

Unclear if the child had a light complexion 

or if he was said to be the child of a man 

with the surname of White.  See above 

entry for Delia Jackson. Her son Henry was 

age 6 in 1870, the approximate age of this 

child.

Delia EOC diary transcription August 5 1865 Oatlands Archives Delia + her child left for freedom.

Delia EOC diary transcription September 17 1865 Oatlands Archives

Delia came back + said she was so sick she could 

work for a living.

Delia EOC diary transcription October 10 1865 Oatlands Archives

Delia + Alice went with Jake to the Tournament 

at Bloomfield.

Delia EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.

Delia EOC diary transcription July 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan[,] Delia[,] Jake + Sophie struck up a fight in 

my yard + Delia went off.

Delia EOC diary transcription March 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Give Alice an order to have her shoes mended 

also Delia.

Delia EOC diary transcription May 20 1867 Oatlands Archives

Delia very insolent to me. I dismissed her.  She 

cried + begged my pardon + I let her stay.

Delia EOC diary transcription May 23 1867 Oatlands Archives

Paid Delia ten dollars [.] Paid [her] five in 

January.
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Delila

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at Oatlands - mother Martha - 

informant: Miss Grayson [online index lists 

owner as E.O. Carter]

Dick EOC diary transcription December 7 1862 Oatlands Archives Dick took George's horse down to him.

Dick EOC diary transcription October 21 1862 Oatlands Archives

Dick came from Oatlands to get G.'s [George's] 

clothes for him to go to Baltimore!

Dick EOC diary transcription January 15 1863 Oatlands Archives Dick came from O.

Dick EOC diary transcription January 24 1863 Oatlands Archives Dick came from O. with letters + papers.

Dick EOC diary transcription May 31 1863 Oatlands Archives

Yankees carried off Dick, who was on his way 

from Oatlands, with plants + a letter.

Dinah

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 May 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born in Loudoun - mother Dinah - 

informant: mistress  [E.O.Carter] Dinah Bryant Day, wife of Gabriel Day

Dinah EOC diary transcription February 9 1861 Oatlands Archives Dinah has a boy - called "Romeo"

Dinah EOC diary transcription March 29 1861 Oatlands Archives

Sent Dinah & Gabriel with her child to Bellefield 

to stay.

the name Gabriel is crossed out in EOC's 

diary

Dinah's infant 

(Romeo?) EOC diary transcription March 27 1861 Oatlands Archives

Dinah's infant died suddenly. Dr. P. made a post 

mortum. Disease of the heart.

Ed

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Eddie EOC diary transcription January 4 1862 Oatlands Archives

"Dr. J. left.  Eddie called for him."  Is Eddie a 

slave??

Edmund EOC diary transcription February 25 1865 Oatlands Archives Edmund went to Oatlands.

Edmond EOC diary transcription May 12 1865 Oatlands Archives

Edmond walked off to Washington to see how 

things lay.

Edward EOC diary transcription January 28 1871 Oatlands Archives Ben very sick. Edmund went to see him.

Effa

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 March 15 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born in Loudoun - mother Ellen - 

informant: mistress  [E.O.Carter]

Effie EOC diary transcription April 1 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. Powell to see Hagar & Effie.

Effie EOC diary transcription January 31 1863 Oatlands Archives

Mrs. Benton has taken Daphne + Effie for the 

term of five years.

Eliza EOC diary transcription December 26 1860 Oatlands Archives Eliza has a boy - called "Hubert"

Eliza EOC diary transcription February 22 1870 Oatlands Archives Eliza had a baby [,] a Boy.

Eliza EOC diary transcription June 19 1870 Oatlands Archives

George + Kate dismissed Eliza + Alfred[,] Louisa + 

Amelia all for impertinance.
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Ellen

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 3 - value $100 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Ellen EOC diary transcription November 28 1860 Oatlands Archives Ellen had a child - girl called Aggy

Ellen EOC diary transcription November 6 1860 Oatlands Archives

Sarah was sent to Mr. Sumerford's & Ellen 

brought home.

This appears to be the hiring out of Sarah 

and Ellen, typically done at the end of the 

year.

Ellen EOC diary transcription November 7 1860 Oatlands Archives Dr. E. to see Ben - also prescribed for Ellen.

Emaline

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at Oatlands - mother Hester - 

informant: Miss Grayson - [online index lists 

owner as E.O. Carter]

Emanuel

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse probably Emanuel Day

Esther

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Esther, toothache drops.  .37

Eva EOC diary transcription July 27 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Eva three $ for twelve chickens.

Eva EOC diary transcription December 20 1867 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake in part for 1867 one hundred dollars.  

Fan fifty dollars.  Eva twenty dollars hire.

Eva EOC diary transcription August 1 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Eva ten dollars 1869.

Eva EOC diary transcription June 15 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Eva ten dollars 1869.

Eva EOC diary transcription March 26 1869 Oatlands Archives Sent Eva ten dollars.

Eva EOC diary transcription December 24 1870 Oatlands Archives Paid Eva twenty dollars $20.

Eva EOC diary transcription July 28 1870 Oatlands Archives Paid Eva ten dollars.

Eva EOC diary transcription October 18 1873 Oatlands Archives Eva five dollars.

Eve EOC diary transcription October 15 1860 Oatlands Archives Eve had a child - girl called Frances Eve and Frances Moten/Moton

Eve EOC diary transcription February 28 1863 Oatlands Archives Wagon came from Oatlands. Eve came up.

More support for Charles being Eve's father 

as she came back up to Bellefield after 

Charles died.

Eve EOC diary transcription January 28 1863 Oatlands Archives

Eve went down to see her father, who is very 

low. Charlie & Solomon went to stay.

Eve EOC diary transcription May 10 1863 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy - Eve better.

Eve EOC diary transcription May 12 1863 Oatlands Archives Eve much better.

Eve EOC diary transcription May 6 1863 Oatlands Archives Eve sick. Dr. L. sent for.

Eve EOC diary transcription May 8 1863 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Eve.

Eve EOC diary transcription September 5 1863 Oatlands Archives

Eve [,] Patrick + a cart load of children went to 

Oatlands.

Eve EOC diary transcription May 6 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent the Wagon to Oatlands with Eve + Sam to 

drive some Hogs. Eve is probably Eve Moten/Moton
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Eve EOC diary transcription August 14 1865 Oatlands Archives

Julius + Eve brought _____ [??] box graps [sic-

grapes] + a box from Mr. Briscoe. Kerozine oil + 

Canteloups [sic-Kerosene oil + cantaloupes].

Eve EOC diary transcription August 9 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius + Eve to Oatlands.  Paid Eve three 

dollars.

Eve EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.

Eve EOC diary transcription April 12 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve five dollars.

Eve EOC diary transcription October 12 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve three dollars for chickens.

Eve EOC diary transcription December 1 1868 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve ten dollars.

Eve EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.

Eve EOC diary transcription March 19 1868 Oatlands Archives Eve sowed [a] hot bed.

Eve EOC diary transcription May 6 1868 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve ten dollars.

Eve EOC diary transcription October 21 1868 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve ten $.

Eve EOC diary transcription December 23 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve ten dollars 1869.

Eve EOC diary transcription December ? 1871 Oatlands Archives Paid Eve thirty dollars 1871.

Eve EOC diary transcription December 4 1871 Oatlands Archives Gave Hannah + Eve shoes.

Eve EOC diary transcription December 12 1872 Oatlands Archives Mr. Gibson repairing Eve's house.

Eve EOC diary transcription December 20 1873 Oatlands Archives

Paid Eve $35. Paid Hannah $30.  Both Eve and 

Hannah clothes which I have done.

Eve EOC diary transcription October 18 1873 Oatlands Archives Eve ten $ + five in 1873

Eve EOC diary transcription October 18 1873 Oatlands Archives five $ in 1873.

Eveva [Eva??] EOC diary transcription February 8 1866 Oatlands Archives

Got a chicken from Eveva [Eve] for Ann who is 

very sick.

Evan (Celia's child) EOC diary transcription December 6 1860 Oatlands Archives Celia had a boy - named Evan

Fan EOC Diary  October 12 1860 Oatlands Archives Fan raised 60 Turkies at Belfield [Bellefield]

Fan EOC diary transcription November 2 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent for Dr. Lacey to see Fan.

Fan EOC diary transcription November 3 1863 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacey, Fan rather better. 

Fan EOC diary transcription November 5 1863 Oatlands Archives Fan better.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 20 1866 Oatlands Archives

Fan is making Fruit Kake [sic] for Katie today.  

The Cake was a perfect success and Julius will go 

to Oatlands in wagon with it.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.
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Fan EOC diary transcription July 17 1866 Oatlands Archives Bought 12 chickens of Fan three dollars.

Fan EOC diary transcription July 9 1866 Oatlands Archives Fan most insolent to me.

Fan EOC diary transcription November 5 1866 Oatlands Archives Fan had chill. Dr. Eliason to see Fan.

Fan EOC diary transcription October 8 1866 Oatlands Archives Fan very insolent to me.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 20 1867 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake in part for 1867 one hundred dollars.  

Fan fifty dollars.  Eva twenty dollars hire.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 26 1867 Oatlands Archives Fan got in her tantrems [sic] went off.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 28 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan got in her airs again and walked off + I 

dismissed her daughter Alice for Impertinence to 

me.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 3 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan most impertinent with a threat that she 

would bring me to justice.

Fan EOC diary transcription July 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan[,] Delia[,] Jake + Sophie struck up a fight in 

my yard + Delia went off.

Fan EOC diary transcription June 11 1867 Oatlands Archives Fan + Alice very insolent to me.

Fan EOC diary transcription February 29 1868 Oatlands Archives Fan killed a large Mink at the meat House.

Fan EOC diary transcription January 2 1868 Oatlands Archives

Fan + three boys with Tener are to stay with me 

at one hundred dollars a year.  I cloathe Fan + 

Teaner + she cloaths the three boys.  I like Annie 

very much so far.

Fan EOC diary transcription June 24 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan thirty dollars June 24th 1868 on her 

wages.

Fan EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.

Fan EOC diary transcription May 18 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan ten dollars May the 18, 1868 on her 

wages.

Fan EOC diary transcription December 5 1869 Oatlands Archives

Fan came + demanded pay for Brooms + said she 

would like to come back to live.  Her impudence 

is unbearable, I think.

Fan EOC diary transcription July 30 1869 Oatlands Archives Fan made Cake by Miss Johnson's recipe.

Fan EOC diary transcription November 1 1869 Oatlands Archives

I dismissed Fan and her family for there [sic - 

their] impertinence to me and paid her in full.

Fan EOC diary transcription November 2 1869 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan one hundred + two dollars wages for 

herself and daughter Teana in full to date of all 

demands of any of the family.
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Fan EOC diary transcription November 3 1869 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan one hundred + twelve dollars for 

herself + Tena wages in full of all accounts to 

date November 3, 1869 + then dismissed Fan + 

all her family for there [sic - their] impertenence 

and disrespectful conduct to me + MSG [Mary S. 

Grayson]

Fann EOC diary transcription October 10 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fann, Moses + Sarah to Harper's Ferry. Got 

three gallons of coal oil [kerosene] + 8 lbs coffee.

Fann EOC diary transcription April 1 1865 Oatlands Archives

Fann very insolent to me because Jacob had 

been shot by Charlie McBlair.

Fann EOC diary transcription December 19 1865 Oatlands Archives

Margaret + Fann making fruit cake also pies + 

dough nuts.

Fann EOC diary transcription December 26 1865 Oatlands Archives Fann made cake for Jennie Costelloe's marriage.

Fann EOC diary transcription June 4 1865 Oatlands Archives

Bought nine Chickens of Fann at twenty five cts 

each[.]  paid Fann five dollars.

Fann EOC diary transcription April 1 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Fann to see after Ann.

Fann EOC diary transcription April 11 1866 Oatlands Archives Lucinda Fleming had child.  Fan with her. It appears that Fan was a midwife.

Fann EOC diary transcription April 23 1866 Oatlands Archives Mrs. Tinsman had a child.  Fann in attendance.

Fann EOC diary transcription February 20 1866 Oatlands Archives Fann making fruit cake.

Fann EOC diary transcription February 23 1866 Oatlands Archives Fann made a beautiful fruit cake today.

Fann EOC diary transcription February 4 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fann to Newstead to see after Ann and to 

take her a loaf of bread.

Fann EOC diary transcription January 2 1866 Oatlands Archives Fann sent for to Mr. Wornals to see Huldy.

Fann EOC diary transcription October 2 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Fann four dollars for chickens.

Fanny

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 11 - value $275 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Fanny

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Fanny

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Fanny EOC diary transcription March 17 1862 Oatlands Archives Fanny went to see how all are at Aunt M's.

Fanny EOC diary transcription August 17 1863 Oatlands Archives Mrs. Lanham sent five chickens by Fanny

Fanny EOC diary transcription July 28 1863 Oatlands Archives Mrs. Lanham sent seven chickens by Fanny.
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Fanny EOC diary transcription November 10 1863 Oatlands Archives Fanny at work in the kitchen.

Fanny EOC diary transcription November 4 1863 Oatlands Archives

Fanny nervous + cold gave her ginger + spirrit 

[spirit].  Dr. Lacey gave Fan assafoeida pills for 

nervisness [sic].

Assafoeida is a variant of asafoetida. One 

of the medical uses is as an antiepileptic.

Fanny EOC diary transcription November 8 1863 Oatlands Archives Fanny much better.

Fanny EOC diary transcription November 9 1863 Oatlands Archives Fanny down stairs but not at work.

Fanny EOC diary transcription October 8 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fanny to Upperville to my sister to get her 

to have me cakes made

Fanny EOC diary transcription January 12 1864 Oatlands Archives Fanny + her child sick.

Fanny EOC diary transcription November 14 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fanny + Moses to Berlin with Jacob. Spent 

fifty dollars got very little for it.

Fanny EOC diary transcription November 20 1864 Oatlands Archives Paid Fanny fifty cts for a comb.

Fanny EOC diary transcription August 22 1865 Oatlands Archives Fanny sick.

Fanny EOC diary transcription November 1 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fanny with a sponge cake to Mrs. Burrell + 

some jelly.

Fanny EOC diary transcription April 18 1866 Oatlands Archives Fanny moulding candles.

Fanny EOC diary transcription June 13 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Fanny to see after Ann + the baby.

Fanny EOC diary transcription December 28 1868 Oatlands Archives Paid Fanny forty $ by the hands of Jake Howard.

Fanny EOC diary transcription April 11 1869 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan twenty dollars the last of her wages for 

1868.  Paid Fanny ten dollars on her wages for 

1869.

Fanny EOC diary transcription March 26 1869 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fanny twenty dollars the last of her wages 

for sixty eight.

Fenton

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Probably Fenton Buchanan

Fenton

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Fenton, for pk. Chestnuts.  .75

Fenton

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Fenton

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Fenton, for hoe cakes.  .37

Fenton EOC diary transcription March 20 1862 Oatlands Archives Fenton went to Oatlands.

Frances EOC diary transcription November 6 1869 Oatlands Archives

Gave Frances a pair of Shoes paid one dollar + 

seventy five cts.

This is Frances Moten/Moton, daughter of 

Eve Moten/Moton.

Frances (Eve's child) EOC diary transcription October 15 1860 Oatlands Archives Eve had a child - girl called Frances Eve and Frances Moten/Moton

Frank

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Frank, for turnip seed.  .25
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Frank

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Gabriel EOC diary transcription April 15 1861 Oatlands Archives Gabriel brought butter from Bellefield. Gabriel is Gabriel Day

Gabriel EOC diary transcription March 29 1861 Oatlands Archives

Sent Dinah & Gabriel with her child to Bellefield 

to stay.

the name Gabriel is crossed out in EOC's 

diary

Gabriel EOC diary transcription September 9 1861 Oatlands Archives

Gabriel brought Ice [,] butter [&] vegetables 

from Bellefield.

George

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

George

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 1854

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died near Oatlands of dropsy - age 60 - 

parent Abby - born at Oatlands - source: E.O. 

Carter is this George Rust, child of Abby Rust?

George

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia George, for hanging up bacon.  .25

George Russ

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 31 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands Farm of dyspepsia - age 

65 - parent Abby Russ - born Westmoreland 

County - consort of Patsy  Russ - source: Patsy 

Russ

Gerrard Day

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Alanda & Gerrard Day

Gerrard Smith

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Gregg EOC diary transcription December 27 1863 Oatlands Archives Gregg brought the letter. This might be Grigg Bryant

Guy (Tishy's child) EOC diary transcription January 22 1861 Oatlands Archives Tishy had a child. Boy called "Guy"

H. Fisher EOC diary transcription December 24 1870 Oatlands Archives

Paid Hannah forty dollars 30$ for H. Fisher + ten 

for herself.  $40.

Hager

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Hager and her children

Hagar

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.50

Hagar

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Aunt Hagar EOC diary transcription March 30 1861 Oatlands Archives Aunt Hagar sick

Aunt Hagar was probably an enslaved 

woman and EOC was using the term "Aunt" 

to signify age

Hagar EOC diary transcription April 1 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. Powell to see Hagar & Effie.
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Aunt Hagar EOC diary transcription September 23 1862 Oatlands Archives Aunt Hagar came up

Hannah & 3 children Will Book 2F:134 November 25 1850

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Sale of George M. Grayson's estate - Elizabeth O. 

Carter purchased Hannah & 3 children for 

$8764.51 George Grayson was Elizabeth's brother

Hannah

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 December 12 1854

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at Oatlands - mother Harriet - 

informant: E.O. Carter

Hannah EOC diary transcription June 10 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Hannah to nurs [sic-nurse] Ben's child.

Old Hannah EOC diary transcription June 10 1865 Oatlands Archives Old Hannah very insolent to me.

Hannah EOC diary transcription August 28 1865 Oatlands Archives

Hannah and her family left with there [sic-their] 

reedom.

Hannah EOC diary transcription January 1 1866 Oatlands Archives Hannah sent in to work.

Hannah EOC diary transcription February 16 1866 Oatlands Archives

Hannah got a letter from Chilton her husband 

advising her to remain with her Miss Betsy for it 

was a good home for her.

Hannah EOC diary transcription March 28 1866 Oatlands Archives

Ben Susan with the dear Child + Hannah left for 

Selkirk with a wagon of notions and two bushels 

of potatoes to plant.

Hannah EOC diary transcription October 25 1866 Oatlands Archives

Hannah came from Alexandria.  Perfectly 

charmed to get back [to] Mistress + her old 

home.

Hannah EOC diary transcription September 9 1866 Oatlands Archives Hannah went to Alexandria to see Chilton.

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 27 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Hannah two dollars for Cooking.

Hannah EOC diary transcription February 26 1867 Oatlands Archives

Paid Hannah ten dollars [.] paid five in January.  I 

did not owe it but gave it to her.

Hannah EOC diary transcription February 28 1867 Oatlands Archives

Susan, dear Ben + the little Boy with Hannah 

come at night without dinner.

Hannah EOC diary transcription March 2 1867 Oatlands Archives

BGC with Susan + dear little Bennie + Hannah 

left for Selkirk with my Horse Dutch in the 

Carriage with Ben's riding horse.

Hannah EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.
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Hannah EOC diary transcription December 23 1869 Oatlands Archives

EOC + GC left Bellefield for Oatlands + arrived at 

Oat two Oclock with the two Hannahs + some 

poultry + other things.

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 23 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Hannah ten dollars.

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 24 1870 Oatlands Archives

Paid Hannah forty dollars 30$ for H. Fisher + ten 

for herself.  $40.

Hannah EOC diary transcription February 1 1870 Oatlands Archives

Sent Ben a Jar of Bandy [sic - Brandy] Peaches by 

Hannah.

Hannah EOC diary transcription June 18 1870 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius + Hannah with my  Baggage to 

Bellefield.

Hannah EOC diary transcription March 13 1870 Oatlands Archives Hannah come from Selkirk.

Hannah EOC diary transcription March 9 1870 Oatlands Archives Sent Hannah to Selkirk to stay until Susan is well.

Hannah EOC diary transcription October 28 1870 Oatlands Archives

EOC went to Oatlands with Miss Johnson + 

Hannah.

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Hannah thirty dollars December 1871 their 

clothes for 1871

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 4 1871 Oatlands Archives Gave Hannah + Eve shoes.

Hannah EOC diary transcription January 2 1871 Oatlands Archives Made Hannah two flannel shirts.

Hannah EOC diary transcription October 18 1872 Oatlands Archives Hannah five dollars.

Hannah EOC diary transcription October 18 1872 Oatlands Archives Hannah ten dollars.

Hannah EOC diary transcription December 20 1873 Oatlands Archives

Paid Eve $35. Paid Hannah $30.  Both Eve and 

Hannah clothes which I have done.

Hannah EOC diary transcription October 18 1873 Oatlands Archives five $ in 1873.

Hanson EOC diary transcription February 4 1864 Oatlands Archives

Paid Hanson two dollars for plastering fire place 

+ one dollar for Church Unclear if Hanson is a free Black man.

Hanson EOC diary transcription July 22 1866 Oatlands Archives

Hanson came to white wash. One $ + fifty cts a 

day. Possibly Hanson Willis

Hanson EOC diary transcription July 26 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Hanson five $ for white washing. Possibly Hanson Willis

Hanson EOC diary transcription October 11 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Hanson two + a half $ for mendin fier place 

+ cealing [sic - fire place + ceiling].

Hanson EOC diary transcription October 29 1866 Oatlands Archives

Hanson mending the plastering in the third 

story.

Harriet

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 March 1854

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at Oatlands - mother Louisa - 

informant: E.O. Carter

Harriett's child EOC diary transcription November 16 1860 Oatlands Archives Dr. Eliason to see Harriett's child.

Harriett EOC diary transcription May 5 1861 Oatlands Archives Harriett has a child - girl called Rose.
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Harriet EOC diary transcription January 27 1863 Oatlands Archives Harriet has a child, a girl.

Harriet EOC diary transcription February 1 1863 Oatlands Archives Harriet very sick. Sent for Dr. Lacy at night.

Harriet EOC diary transcription February 3 1863 Oatlands Archives Harriett very sick still.

Harriet EOC diary transcription February 6 1863 Oatlands Archives Harriet died about 3 o'clock in the night.

Harriet EOC diary transcription February 8 1863 Oatlands Archives Harriet buried at Belmont.

Belmont is the Grayson property near 

Upperville, not the Belmont in Ashburn.

Harrison EOC diary transcription February 14 1862 Oatlands Archives Harrison sick Unclear if Harrison is an enslaved man

Harrison EOC diary transcription February 16 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Bronaugh to see Harrison

Harrison EOC diary transcription February 24 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. B. Harrison very sick.

Harrison EOC diary transcription February 28 1862 Oatlands Archives

Dr. B.  Harrison very ill.  The Dr. here all day + 

night.

Harrison EOC diary transcription March 1 1862 Oatlands Archives Harrison died.  Regretted by all.

Harrison EOC diary transcription March 2 1862 Oatlands Archives Harrison was buried.

Harry

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Harry

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.50

Harry EOC diary transcription December 8 1861 Oatlands Archives Sent Harry to O. with bird pole.

Harry EOC diary transcription November 27 1863 Oatlands Archives Harry came from Oats [Oatlands].

Harry EOC diary transcription March 1 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sarah + Harry on the mule + my poney to 

Oatlands.

Harry Lee EOC diary transcription May 28 1865 Oatlands Archives

Harry Lee + Sam Jones took themselves off as 

freemen.

Hebe

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 March 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Harriet - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress Possibly Hebe Fisher

Hebe EOC diary transcription May 17 1867 Oatlands Archives Got a letter from Kate to send Hebe down.

Hebe EOC diary transcription May 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent to Andisons [Andersons?] for Hebe with 

Julius with my two horses.

Heby [Hebe] EOC diary transcription May 21 1867 Oatlands Archives Katie went home + took Heeby with her. Hebe Fisher

Hebe EOC diary transcription March 11 1870 Oatlands Archives Dr. Fanteleroy at night.  Hebe sick.

Hebe EOC diary transcription January 3 1871 Oatlands Archives Sent Hebe to Mrs. Hall's.

Henny

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Henny, for chickens.  .25

Hubert (Eliza's child) EOC diary transcription December 26 1860 Oatlands Archives Eliza has a boy - called "Hubert"
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Ida

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 February 12 1854

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at Oatlands - mother Cela - 

informant: E.O. Carter

Isaac

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at Oatlands - mother Ceila - 

informant: Miss Grayson [online index lists 

owner as E.O. Carter]

Jack

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Jack, for timothy seed.  .25

Jack EOC diary transcription August 1 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Jack.

Jack Rust

Alexandria Gazette 

advertisement January 7 1852 Alexandria Gazette

$100 REWARD - Ranaway from the subscriber, 

on Sunday, on January 4th, negro man "JACK", 

who calls himself Jack Rust; he is about four feet 

nine inches in height, about twenty-two years of 

age, very black, and has very white teeth; he 

uses a good deal of tobacco. He wore away a 

new suit of fulled Linsey; a sack coat, pants and 

vest of the same, and a cloth cap. The above 

reward will be given for the apprehension of said 

negro if taken out of State, and secured in the 

Leesburg jail, or fifty dollars if taken within the 

State. Elizabeth O. Carter. Loudoun County.

Jackson EOC diary transcription May 18 1868 Oatlands Archives Nat and Jackson come to Ditch in the Corn field. Nat and Jackson are probably Black men.

Jacob

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Jacob EOC diary transcription April 14 1863 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Stephenson's servant Jacob went to work 

here. Jacob Howard

Jacob EOC diary transcription November 2 1863 Oatlands Archives Mr. Stephenson sent for Jacob to get wood.

Jacob EOC diary transcription October 26 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent the waggon. Jacob to drive to Oatlands with 

Kate's + George's trunks with two Hair 

Mattresses.

Jacob EOC diary transcription April 27 1864 Oatlands Archives Mr. Stephenson sent Jacob to stay.

Jacob EOC diary transcription December 23 1864 Oatlands Archives Jacob cuting [sic] wood for the house

Jacob EOC diary transcription February 24 1864 Oatlands Archives

Jacob came from Luray where he left B.G.C. + 

wife to get a Horse to come home with[.] the 

one of the Horses in the Wagon died.

Jacob EOC diary transcription January 18 1864 Oatlands Archives Jacob went home to get ice.
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Jacob EOC diary transcription January 4 1864 Oatlands Archives Jacob went home to his Master to work.

Jacob EOC diary transcription March 30 1864 Oatlands Archives

Got a note from Mr. S. [Stephenson] to get Hay 

[.] sent a load of Hay by Jacob.

Jacob EOC diary transcription November 14 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fanny + Moses to Berlin with Jacob. Spent 

fifty dollars got very little for it.

Jacob EOC diary transcription October 25 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Jacob to Oakley for Katie.

Jacob EOC diary transcription July 6 1865 Oatlands Archives

Jacob sat in to work at ten dollars a month till 

Christmas.

Jacob EOC diary transcription March 31 1865 Oatlands Archives Charles McBlair shot Jacob at the stable.

Jacob EOC diary transcription March 11 1866 Oatlands Archives Jacob brought the horses from Oatlands.

Jacob EOC diary transcription March 26 1866 Oatlands Archives

Let Jacob have a barrel of flour price twelve 

dollars.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription February 28 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard $155 for his and Sophy's hire 

for the year 1867. Due him $94 for the year 

1866.

Jacob EOC diary transcription April 23 1868 Oatlands Archives Paid Jacob five dollars cash.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription June 13 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard by check on Berke Herbert + 

Co seventy five dollars 75$ June 13 1868

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription July 27 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard fourteen dollars for the year 

1868.

Jacob EOC diary transcription June 17 1870 Oatlands Archives

Jacob came from Bellefield with the Horses for 

me to go up.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription December 24 1870 Oatlands Archives Paid Jacob Howard fifty two dollars.  $52.00

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription March 23 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard + Sophia his wife by check on 

Berke + Herbert one hundred dollars + ten 

dollars in money setting up their account in full 

to January 1, 1871 their wages.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription March 24 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard + wife one hundred + ten 

dollars in full of their wages for 1870.

Jacob EOC diary transcription May 23 1871 Oatlands Archives Jacob whitewashing the fence.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription December 30 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard + wife Sophia their wages 

two hundred and thirty dollars in full of all 

demands to date.

Jacob EOC diary transcription May 31 1872 Oatlands Archives

Sent all the Servants there [sic - their] summer 

cloathes by Jacob to Bellefield.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription July 17 1872 Oatlands Archives Paid Jacob Howard 10$

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription March 15 1872 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard ten dollars + one dollar + fifty 

cts for a Turkey sold Mr. Dulany.
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Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription November 19 1872 Oatlands Archives Paid Jacob Howard $100.

Jacob EOC diary transcription April 1 1873 Oatlands Archives Paid Jacob five dollars.

Jacob Howard EOC diary transcription December 9 1873 Oatlands Archives

Paid two hund [hundred] and thirty dollars 

wages for Jacob Howard + Sophia his wife in full 

of all accounts to date.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 24 1862 Oatlands Archives

Sophy + Jake married in the dining room by Mr. 

K. [Kinsolving]. Sophia Moten/Moton and Jacob Howard

Jake EOC diary transcription August 30 1865 Oatlands Archives Jake sick with pain in shouldier [sic] + back.

Jake EOC diary transcription August 8 1865 Oatlands Archives

Gave Armistead pants + shirts. Andison + Jake 

the same.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 1 1865 Oatlands Archives Jake sick.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 2 1865 Oatlands Archives Jake out.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 6 1865 Oatlands Archives Jake lost half a day to dig a grave for Adam's son.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 13 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Mr. Harrison to thesh [sic] wheat.

Jake EOC diary transcription October 10 1865 Oatlands Archives

Delia + Alice went with Jake to the Tournament 

at Bloomfield.

Jake EOC diary transcription October 13 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Mrs. H. some salt fish by Jake.

Jake EOC diary transcription October 24 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Oatlands for Katie.

Jake EOC diary transcription November 20 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Oakley for Katie's things.

Jake EOC diary transcription November 4 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake with a letter to Katie at Oakley.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 1 1866 Oatlands Archives

Jake is to live with me at one hundred + twenty 

five $ + I cloathe [sic-clothe] him.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 16 1866 Oatlands Archives Jake making a Stable for George's horse.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 18 1866 Oatlands Archives Jake built a stable for George's horse.

Jake EOC diary transcription February 7 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake three dollars on his wages.

Jake EOC diary transcription February 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake with Mr. Harrison's Carriage to Mr. 

Scotts to bring Susan + the baby to Bellefield.

Jake EOC diary transcription February 28 1866 Oatlands Archives Jake mending the garden fence.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 14 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Oatlands with Katie's baggage.

Jake EOC diary transcription April 8 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Oatlands for plants.

Jake EOC diary transcription April 30 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to plant mellons for my Sister in 

Upperville.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 6 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to get whiskey for Ann in Upperville.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 17 1866 Oatlands Archives Jake gave me a fine squirrel.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 18 1866 Oatlands Archives Jake killed seven squirrels.
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Jake EOC diary transcription May 20 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake and got the crib from Mrs. Harrison for 

Ann's baby.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 30 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to mow Mary's yard.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 12 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake one $ for four chickens.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 19 1866 Oatlands Archives

George [her son] went to Oatlands. Jake went 

with him to bring a mare for me to ride.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 20 1866 Oatlands Archives

Jake got home with the Mare. All well at 

Oatlands.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 29 1866 Oatlands Archives Mr. Costeloe got Jake to Harvest.

Jake EOC diary transcription July 23 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Oatlands for a wagon.

Jake EOC diary transcription August 22 1866 Oatlands Archives

Jake shot a dog in the garden + saw a man get 

over the fence at night.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 15 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to have the horses shod at Bowie's 

shop [blacksmith shop].

Jake EOC diary transcription October 25 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Newstead for Milly to go to 

Upperville to take the Sage [sic - Stage] to 

Winchester.

Jake EOC diary transcription November 3 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake forty dollars on his wages for a dress 

suit of cloathes [sic - clothes].

Jake EOC diary transcription December 18 1866 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Stephenson got five Hogs seven hundred 

and sixty two lbs. Jake four hundred lbs for 

himself + wife.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 11 1867 Oatlands Archives

Upon my settlement with Jake + Sophia I owe 

the two one hundred + twenty five $ for the year 

1866.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 28 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake with the Carpet to Miss Lanham.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 5 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake ten dollars on account.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 29 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake ten $ on wages.

Jake EOC diary transcription April 27 1867 Oatlands Archives

Jake + Armestead planted Mellons [sic - melons] 

for my Sister.

Jake EOC diary transcription April 30 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Peodmont [the train station in 

Piedmont, Fauquier County] for a Refrigerator 

that came from Baltimore.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 12 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake fifteen dollars on account.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 15 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Piedmont for Potatoes to Plant.
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Jake EOC diary transcription May 22 1867 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake fifteen dollars on account.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 27 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Piedmont.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 1 1867 Oatlands Archives

Let Jake have a barrel of family flour at sixteen 

dollars 16$.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 7 1867 Oatlands Archives Jake lost a day to go to a wedding.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 12 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake for Ann + Cora.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 14 1867 Oatlands Archives

Gave Jake two pairs of Summer pant [sic - pants] 

six dollars + 50 cts at Conrads.

Jake EOC diary transcription July 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan[,] Delia[,] Jake + Sophie struck up a fight in 

my yard + Delia went off.

Jake EOC diary transcription August 21 1867 Oatlands Archives Lent Jake the wagon to go to Bush Meeting.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 4 1867 Oatlands Archives Jake went to a show at Snickersville.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 5 1867 Oatlands Archives Jake to get wild plums.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 6 1867 Oatlands Archives

Jake made 12 lbs Damsons + Seven lbs of Wild 

plums.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 21 1867 Oatlands Archives

Jake drove Mr. Briscoe to Snickersville to take 

the stage.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 22 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to ask Josephine S. to come + assist 

Nannie E. in nursing MAT [Margaret Tennison] 

who is very ill.

Jake EOC diary transcription November 30 1867 Oatlands Archives Jake corked the windows.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 10 1867 Oatlands Archives

Robert killed the last hogs. I had nine + he had 

nine.  Jake had four hundred lbs for his family + 

himself.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 20 1867 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake in part for 1867 one hundred dollars.  

Fan fifty dollars.  Eva twenty dollars hire.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 12 1868 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to get Ice for Mr. Harrison at my pond.

Jake EOC diary transcription February 17 1868 Oatlands Archives Jake killed fiften ceder [sic] birds.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 5 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake with the Wagon Pemont [to Piedmont] 

for my Groceries sent from Alexandria.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 6 1868 Oatlands Archives

Jake paid Eight Seven cts 15 March freight on 

groceries Piedmont.
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Jake EOC diary transcription March 19 1868 Oatlands Archives

Jake saw Mr. Dulany who said BGC was sick in 

Alexandria + that George had gone to get him 

home.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 26 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid by Jake to James Hunter fifty cts freight on 

a box of potatoes from Peidmont [sic].

Jake EOC diary transcription April 28 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Piedmont to look after a box sent 

from Baltimore.  Jake found the box + paid 

ninety cts freight on it.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 8 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Oatlands with the Horses for the 

Girls.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 25 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Oatlands.  Made Armestead put the 

walk in nice order.  Paid Julius one $ for four 

chickens.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 27 1868 Oatlands Archives

My dear George sent me 24 fine Egg plants by 

Jake yesterday.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 8 1868 Oatlands Archives

The Girls had the wagon to go visiting.  Jake 

drove.

Jake EOC diary transcription June 9 1868 Oatlands Archives Jake is whitewashing today.

Jake EOC diary transcription July 20 1868 Oatlands Archives

George went to Oatlands.  Sent Jake with 

George.

Jake EOC diary transcription July 21 1868 Oatlands Archives Jake got back from Oatlands with my dress.

Jake EOC diary transcription August 15 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake two dollars for Chickens.

Jake EOC diary transcription September 5 1869 Oatlands Archives [My sister] better. Sent her some ice by Jake.

Jake EOC diary transcription October 2 1869 Oatlands Archives

Gave the wemen [sic - women] there [sic - their] 

Winter dresses and yarn for there [sic - their] 

winter Stockings, yarn for Jake's socks, also Julius 

stockings.

Jake EOC diary transcription November 4 1869 Oatlands Archives

Got Jake + Armestead spading + piting [putting] 

up the Garden. Set Armestead to work in the 

Garden.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 8 1869 Oatlands Archives

Made Jake glaze the windes [sic - windows] in 

the Kitchen + up Stairs.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 13 1869 Oatlands Archives

Robert Costelloe killed twenty Hogs. I had ten + 

he had ten  Jake  4.  hundred twenty.

Jake EOC diary transcription July 16 1870 Oatlands Archives Jake went to a Fair in Upperville.
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Jake EOC diary transcription October 18 1870 Oatlands Archives

Jake come from Oatlands brought vinegar.  Sea 

kale roots.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 5 1871 Oatlands Archives

The trees filled with Sederd Birds. Jake killed 

two.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 14 1871 Oatlands Archives Jake killed two Robbins.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 16 1871 Oatlands Archives Jake trimming the Trees.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 20 1871 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Piedmont for Barrels [of] lime. 

$5.00

Jake EOC diary transcription January 24 1872 Oatlands Archives Jake brought Butter + Eggs + Gin. EOC was at Oatlands and Gin was her mare.

Jake EOC diary transcription January 26 1872 Oatlands Archives Jake went home.

Jake EOC diary transcription February 27 1872 Oatlands Archives Jake come down with butter + Eggs.

Jake EOC diary transcription February 28 1872 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake home with my Mair [sic - mare] Gin.

Jake EOC diary transcription March 13 1872 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Stephens [Stephenson?] went home with 

Jake.  Jake went to Bellefield.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 22 1872 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Bellefield.

Jake EOC diary transcription May 29 1872 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake for my Carriage to Leesburg.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 6 1872 Oatlands Archives Sent Jake to Mr. Harlow's to kill hogs.

Jake EOC diary transcription December 18 1872 Oatlands Archives Paid Jake in full to date.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription February 29 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Thomas S. Dun Barr by the hands of Jake 

Howard.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription December 28 1868 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard one hundred $for the year 

1868.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription March 4 1869? Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard twenty five $ + two $ + fifty cts 

his tax. I owe now him twenty seven dollars for 

the year 1868.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription May 21 1869? Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard ten dollars on his last years 

account + one barrel flour price ten dollars.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription July 1 1869 Oatlands Archives

Let Jake Howard have a barrel of Flour price ten 

dollars the 1869

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription October 20 1869 Oatlands Archives

Gave Jake Howard an order on T.A. Brewis + 

Lawson to pay Mr. Wood thirty dollars 30 $

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription December 23 1869 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard Seventy five dollars by the 

hands of George Carter

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription July 15 1870 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard check on Berke + Herbert 

seventy dollars.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription October 19 1870 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard check Berk + Herbert for G.W. 

Moor for boots. $ on my acc. [account]
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Jake Howard EOC diary transcription September 28 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake Howard by the hands of R. Costelloe 

one hundred dollars paid.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription November 28 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Charles Showers for Jake Howard one dollar 

+ sixty seven cts.

Jake Howard EOC diary transcription November 6 1871 Oatlands Archives

W.S. Hoge tax for the year 1870 Jake Howard 

twenty five dollars sixty two cts.

James

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia James, for driving cattle.  .50

Jane (Martha's child) EOC diary transcription August 8 1861 Oatlands Archives Martha has a child. Girl called Jane.

Jemima

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Clara - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

Jerry EOC diary transcription May 22 1870 Oatlands Archives Paid Jerry two $ to help BGC plant corn.

Jim EOC diary transcription February 13 1866 Oatlands Archives

Lent Mr. Harrison Jim to drive in the Carriage to 

Bollingbrook.

Jinnie EOC diary transcription January 12 1867 Oatlands Archives

Got a letter from dear George [her son] all well 

and says Jinnie is going to cook for Ben.

Jinnie is probably Jennie Nelson, recorded 

in the 1870 Census as age 60 and living 

with her husband Wesley in the household 

of George & Kate Carter.

Joe

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 18 - value $500 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Joe

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Joe, .50 for extra work

Joe Rust

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Joe Rust [,] his wife and children

John

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

John

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia John, for blasting rock on road.  $3.75

John EOC diary transcription July 10 1869 Oatlands Archives

Susan got very mad with me + sent John for Ben 

to come up + take her home because I told her 

she aught to mend Ben's cloathes.

John EOC diary transcription July 13 1869 Oatlands Archives John took BGC to Mr. Scott's. Unclear if John is a servant.

John Steward

Loudoun County Record of 

Free Negroes 1844-1861

1844-

1861

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

Black male age 66 years. 5 feet 8 1/2 inches tall 

with a light brown complexion and a horizontal 

scar on the left wrist. Emancipated by Elizabeth 

O. Carter.
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Joseph

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Josh

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Josh, for getting honey.  .35

Joshua

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Joshua

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Joshua, for 2 squirrels.  .25

Julius

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Julius Day

Julins [Julius?] EOC diary transcription April 6 1861 Oatlands Archives Julins brought 4 rolls of butter from Bellefield.

Julius EOC diary transcription May 18 1861 Oatlands Archives Julius brought chickens & butter.

Julius EOC diary transcription March 26 1862 Oatlands Archives Julius went to Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription March 31 1862 Oatlands Archives

Julius + Bill came from O. report the house to 

have been searched by the Yankees.

Julius EOC diary transcription May 5 1862 Oatlands Archives Julius brought papers from O.

Julius EOC diary transcription September 10 1862 Oatlands Archives Julius went to Oatlands

Julius EOC diary transcription September 14 1862 Oatlands Archives Julius went to Oatlands

Julius EOC diary transcription September 28 1862 Oatlands Archives Julius to Oatlands

Julius EOC diary transcription September 29 1862 Oatlands Archives Julius came from Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription June 2 1863 Oatlands Archives Julius came from O [Oatlands].

Julius EOC diary transcription August 20 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius to Oatlands with GC [George Carter's] 

bridle

Julius EOC diary transcription August 21 1863 Oatlands Archives

Julius came from Oats [Oatlands] with some 

grapes

Julius EOC diary transcription October 29 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands with Sterlin [Sterling]

Julius EOC diary transcription October 30 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius with Serling [Sterling] to Oatlands 

with a Horse for B.G.C.

Julius EOC diary transcription November 2 1863 Oatlands Archives Julius came from Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription October 29 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands with Sterlin [Sterling]

Julius EOC diary transcription October 30 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius with Serling [Sterling] to Oatlands 

with a Horse for B.G.C.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 10 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Upperville.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 13 1863 Oatlands Archives Got five partridges of Julius.

Julius EOC diary transcription November 13 1864 Oatlands Archives Paid Julius two $ for birds.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 7 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands with the wagon.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 14 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent by Julius fifty Sheep and Eleven young 

cattle to winter at Oatlands.
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Julius EOC diary transcription December 16 1864 Oatlands Archives Julius brought butter from Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription April 25 1865 Oatlands Archives

George sent me by Julius tomatoe + cabbage 

plants. 

Julius EOC diary transcription July 7 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands for Bacon.

Julius EOC diary transcription July 8 1865 Oatlands Archives

Julius brought twenty pieces of bacon + twenty 

five chickens some honey + pairs [sic-pears] from 

Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription August 14 1865 Oatlands Archives

Julius + Eve brought Greeting [??] box graps [sic] 

+ a box from Mr. Briscoe. Kerosine oil + 

Canteloups [sic].

Julius EOC diary transcription August 23 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription August 9 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius + Eve to Oatlands.  Paid Eve three 

dollars.

Julius EOC diary transcription September 21 1865 Oatlands Archives

Julius came from Oatlands with a barrel of fish + 

a barrel of lime + a Clock from Baltimore also 

some Toweling + some other things.

Julius EOC diary transcription October 26 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius with the wagon to Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 6 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius + Armistead to Oatlands for Salt.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 14 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius to Oatlands to bring up the Wagon 

and some things from Baltimore.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 18 1865 Oatlands Archives

Julius came from Oatlands with things that 

George got in Baltimore.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 27 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Lydia off.  She stole fifty four $ + seventy 

five cts from me + some beautiful lace.  Julius 

took her off  to her father.

Julius EOC diary transcription January 31 1866 Oatlands Archives Julius brought six partridges for me.

Julius EOC diary transcription February 27 1866 Oatlands Archives Julius caught a large mink.

Julius EOC diary transcription March 31 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius + Armestead with ox cart + cow to 

Ben to haul earth for his garden from the Creek.

Julius EOC diary transcription April 10 1866 Oatlands Archives Julius came with the ox cart.

Julius EOC diary transcription April 12 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius Armistead the cart with two bushels 

potatoes + twenty Turkeys eggs.

Julius EOC diary transcription June 9 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius back to Selkirk.

Selkirk is the property owned by  

Elizabeth's son, Benjamin.

Julius EOC diary transcription September 17 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Julius five $ for work at Selkirk for B.G.C.

Julius EOC diary transcription September 19 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Julius five $ [for] chickens.

Julius EOC diary transcription November 4 1866 Oatlands Archives Julius brought me some turnips from B.G.C.
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Julius EOC diary transcription November 11 1866 Oatlands Archives Julius brought me a dish of fish from the branch.

Julius EOC diary transcription November 17 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius with B.G.C.'s wagon to him. By him 

sent Bennie two mareno [sic - merino] dresses.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 8 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Taylors Mill.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 10 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius to Mr. Taylors Mill with six bushels 

red wheat for two barrels [of] family flour.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 20 1866 Oatlands Archives

Fan is making Fruit Kake [sic] for Katie today.  

The Cake was a perfect success and Julius will go 

to Oatlands in wagon with it.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 22 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius to Oatlands with Kate's fruit cake + 

the little wagon.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 25 1866 Oatlands Archives

Julius came from Oatlands and brought some 

nice Kake [sic] + jelly sent me by dear Kate.

Julius EOC diary transcription February 8 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius to Ben's with a letter for him to come 

up.

Julius EOC diary transcription February 14 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius with a bag of Cabbages to my Sister.

Julius EOC diary transcription May 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent to Andisons [Andersons?] for Hebe with 

Julius with my two horses.

Julius EOC diary transcription September 16 1867 Oatlands Archives Bought nine Chickens of Julius.

Julius EOC diary transcription October 11 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription December 14 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius with Charlie to take the Mare George 

bought of Robert Costelloe.

Julius EOC diary transcription April 24 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius to Paris [in Fauquier County] with a 

letter to Nannie Edmons [Edmonds].

Julius EOC diary transcription May 25 1868 Oatlands Archives

Sent Jake to Oatlands.  Made Armestead put the 

walk in nice order.  Paid Julius one $ for four 

chickens.

Julius EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.

Julius EOC diary transcription June 10 1868 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription August 11 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Julius two dollars + a half for ten Ducks.
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Julius EOC diary transcription October 2 1869 Oatlands Archives

Gave the wemen [sic - women] there [sic - their] 

Winter dresses and yarn for there [sic - their] 

winter Stockings, yarn for Jake's socks, also Julius 

stockings.

Julius EOC diary transcription April 23 1870 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Bellefield with plants + Roses.

Julius EOC diary transcription August 1 1870 Oatlands Archives Sent poor little Mitt to Oatlands by Julius.

Julius EOC diary transcription August 5 1870 Oatlands Archives

Julius come from Oatlands with a letter from 

Kate.

Julius EOC diary transcription January 20 1870 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Bellefield.

Julius EOC diary transcription June 18 1870 Oatlands Archives

Sent Julius + Hannah with my  Baggage to 

Bellefield.

Julius EOC diary transcription March 1 1870 Oatlands Archives Sent Julius to Bellefield.

Julius EOC diary transcription May 11 1870 Oatlands Archives

Julius came from Bellefield with Bacon + 

Asparagus.

Julius EOC diary transcription May 13 1870 Oatlands Archives

Julius went [to] Bellefield with four Pigs [,] a  

Demijohn of Vinegar + a box of tallow.

Julius EOC diary transcription September 2 1870 Oatlands Archives Julius went to Oatlands.

Julius EOC diary transcription May 4 1872 Oatlands Archives

Julius from Bellefield come with Butter 

Asparagus + Eggs

Julius EOC diary transcription May 13 1872 Oatlands Archives Julius went to Bellefield with Mrs. Harlow press

Julius EOC diary transcription December 4 1872 Oatlands Archives

Got 18 yds linzey for the Womo [women] + 

cloathe [clothes] for Julius + Tyler.

Kate

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at Oatland - mother Sallie - 

informant: Miss Grayson [online index lists 

owner as E.O. Carter]

Katy

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Katy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Katy, for knitting mittens.  .50

Katy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Katy for midwife fee to Rosina (no stated sum)

Katy EOC diary transcription July 15 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. Jackson to see Katy. Unclear if Katy is an enslaved woman

Lamour

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 1 - value $50 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father
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Leal

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Leal, for making shingles.  $5.00

Leal

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Leal's children, chestnuts.  .25

Lee EOC diary transcription September 27 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Mr. Hunt home be [by] Lee Unclear if Lee is enslaved

Lee EOC diary transcription November 5 1864 Oatlands Archives Lee came with a note from Katie.

Lee EOC diary transcription November 8 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Lee to Middleburg for Mr. Briscoe's 

Tobaccoe [sic-tobacco].

Lee EOC diary transcription November 9 1864 Oatlands Archives Lee sent to Oatlands with G [George's] horse.

Lee EOC diary transcription November 20 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Lee to Oatlands.

Lee EOC diary transcription January 31 1868 Oatlands Archives Lee came at night in a sleigh.

Lewis

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Lewis, for hauling bl. tar.  .50

Lewis EOC diary transcription October 22 1864 Oatlands Archives

Lewis came from Oatlands with bran + graps [sic-

grapes].

Lewis EOC diary transcription November 7 1864 Oatlands Archives

Lewis brought the wagon with a sack of salt and 

some Keroesien [sic] oil + a few other things.

Lewis EOC diary transcription December 17 1864 Oatlands Archives

Tom + Lewis stole a horse belonging to Mr. 

Lufborough + went to Washington to the Yanks. 

They went from Oatlands.

Linda EOC diary transcription December 28 1860 Oatlands Archives Mr. Braig to hire Linda at $25

Shows the practice of hiring our enslaved 

people at the end of the year

Louis EOC diary transcription October 28 1864 Oatlands Archives

Louis came from O [Oatlands] with graps [sic-

grapes] + butter.

Louisa

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 24 - value $350 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Louisa

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Louisa and her children

Louisa

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Louisa (Maria) EOC diary transcription November 14 1860 Oatlands Archives Dr. E. to see Louisa (Maria).

Louisa EOC diary transcription May 11 1862 Oatlands Archives

Louisa came from O. to see Parker, who died in 

the night.

Because Louisa came to see Parker, it is 

assumed there is a family connection.

Louisa EOC diary transcription May 15 1862 Oatlands Archives Louisa returned to O. [Oatlands]

Louisa EOC diary transcription March 27 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Louisa to gard [sic-guard] the things.
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Louisa EOC diary transcription August 11 1865 Oatlands Archives

Louisa + her five took there [sic-their] departure 

for freedom.  Louisa very insolent in her 

messages sent to me.

Louisa EOC diary transcription September 4 1865 Oatlands Archives

Paid Louisa three yds cotton + two dollars in 

money.

Louisa EOC diary transcription June 19 1870 Oatlands Archives

George + Kate dismissed Eliza + Alfred[,] Louisa + 

Amelia all for impertinance.

Louisa EOC diary transcription June 22 1870 Oatlands Archives

Sent Louisa to live at Morland [sic - Mooreland] 

in the Shoemaker's Shop.

Louisa is possibly Louisa Parker, listed in 

the 1870 Census as age 58 and living near 

Bellefield with son Tascar -- age matches 

Louisa listed in Grayson's will

Lydia EOC diary transcription December 27 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Lydia off.  She stole fifty four $ + seventy 

five cts from me + some beautiful lace.  Julius 

took her off  to her father.

Lynda EOC diary transcription December 27 1864 Oatlands Archives Lynda went to the Yanks at Berlin

Madison

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born in Loudoun - mother Ally - 

informant: mistress [E.O. Carter] Mother was Ally Basil Bryant

Malinda EOC diary transcription February 26 1866 Oatlands Archives Malinda brought me pocimmon bear.

Maninda EOC diary transcription February 16 1868 Oatlands Archives Bought four partridges of Maninda fifty cts. Unclear if Maninda is a Black woman

Marcus EOC diary transcription June 14 1862 Oatlands Archives Hired Marcus to work at B. [Bellefield] Unclear if Marcus was an enslaved man.

Margaret EOC diary transcription December 19 1865 Oatlands Archives

Margaret + Fann making fruit cake also pies + 

dough nuts. Unclear if Margaret was a Black woman.

Margaret EOC diary transcription March 7 1866 Oatlands Archives Paid Margaret 15 dollars.

Maria Bryant

Will Book V:209 [will of 

Joseph Lewis Jr, Elizabeth 

Carter's first husband] April 14 1834

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Maria, daughter of George and Kitty

no date on the will -- submitted for probate 

on 14 April 1834 -- all other enslaved 

people were freed in his will

Maria

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 34 - value $300

Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father -- 

this is a different Maria than Maria Bryant

Maria

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Marshall

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 July 20 1854

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at Oatlands - mother Louisa - 

informant: E.O. Carter

Martha EOC diary transcription August 8 1861 Oatlands Archives Martha has a child. Girl called Jane.

Martha EOC diary transcription October 5 1861 Oatlands Archives Martha's child died.

Martha EOC diary transcription August 26 1864 Oatlands Archives George sent me grapes + Mellons by Martha
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Mart/Martha EOC diary transcription November 3 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent to Oatlands for Mart [Martha?]. Peyton 

very ill.

Unclear if Mart/Martha was an enslaved 

woman and if so, was there a connection to 

Peyton.

Martha EOC diary transcription November 11 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Martha to Oatlands.

Martha EOC diary transcription January 31 1872 Oatlands Archives Martha died at BGC's last night.

Marth [Martha?] EOC diary transcription November 17 1872 Oatlands Archives Lent Martha five dollars.

Martial [Marshall?] EOC diary transcription June 13 1870 Oatlands Archives Martial came to work at $14 a month.

Unclear if this is Martial Carpenter, a White 

man, who rented the Burnt House

Martin

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Martain [Martin] EOC diary transcription November 25 1863 Oatlands Archives

Martain [Martin?] came from Oatlands with a 

letter from Ben to say he had the Mumps

Martain [Martin] EOC diary transcription December 4 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Martain [Martin] to Oatlands.

Martin EOC diary transcription December 11 1863 Oatlands Archives Martin came from Oatlands with a letter.

Martin EOC diary transcription July 8 1864 Oatlands Archives

George sent Martin for his horse that Mr. Bowie 

rode.

Martin is probably Martin Van Buren 

Buchanan

Martin EOC diary transcription September 28 1864 Oatlands Archives George sent me some figs by Martin.

Mary

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Mary EOC diary transcription December 29 1860 Oatlands Archives Mr. Rogers to hire Mary & Daphne

Shows the practice of hiring our enslaved 

people at the end of the year

Mason

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 June 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Allie - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

Mother was Allie/Ally Basil Bryant. 

Probably a duplicate of the June 1858 birth

Mason

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 February 1858

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at Oatlands - mother Allie - 

informant: Miss Grayson

Mother was Allie/Ally Basil Bryant. 

Probably a duplicate of the June 1857 birth

Matilda

Will Book Z:73 [division of 

Benjamin Grayson's estate] August 5 1835

Loudoun County 

Courthouse age 10 - value $250 Benjamin Grayson was Elizabeth's father

Matilda

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Matilda EOC diary transcription January 18 1862 Oatlands Archives Matilda had a child - a boy.

Matilda EOC diary transcription December 14 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Matilda.

Matilda EOC diary transcription December 19 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy. Matilda very sick.

Matilda EOC diary transcription December 20 1862 Oatlands Archives Matilda a little better.

Matilda EOC diary transcription December 22 1862 Oatlands Archives Matilda still very sick.

Matilda EOC diary transcription December 23 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. L. [Lacy] finds Matilda rather better.
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Matilda EOC diary transcription December 30 1862 Oatlands Archives Matilda better.

Matilda EOC diary transcription January 12 1863 Oatlands Archives

Matilda died, about 9 A.M. having grown worse 

suddenly in the night - a faithful servant + a 

great loss.

Matilda EOC diary transcription January 13 1863 Oatlands Archives Matilda buried at Belmont by her mother.

Belmont is the Grayson property near 

Upperville, not the Belmont in Ashburn.

Mattie

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Mattie, for extra work.  .25

Millay

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Milly

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Mitchell

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 May 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at residence of mistress - mother 

Louisa - informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

Moses

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Moses, for ergot.  .05 ergot is a fungus that grows on rye

Mosey

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Mosey, for 'possum.  .25

Moses EOC diary transcription July 10 1860 Oatlands Archives Moses very sick with cramp-colic.

Moses EOC diary transcription July 11 1860 Oatlands Archives Dr. P. again to see Moses.

Moses EOC diary transcription August 18 1860 Oatlands Archives

Moses brought fruit, vegetables & flowers from 

O. [Oatlands]

Moses EOC diary transcription August 29 1860 Oatlands Archives Moses brought fruit & flowers from O.

Moses EOC diary transcription November 19 1860 Oatlands Archives Moses took "Dido" down to his Master Geo. Dido was a horse

Moses EOC diary transcription November 9 1860 Oatlands Archives

Moses brought some fine cauliflowers up from 

O.

Moses EOC diary transcription September 13 1861 Oatlands Archives Moses went to Bellefield for ice.

Moses EOC diary transcription August 8 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Moses to Oatlands

Moses EOC diary transcription August 9 1863 Oatlands Archives Moses came from Oatlands

Moses EOC diary transcription June 13 1863 Oatlands Archives Moses + Ned gon [gone] to Oatlands.

Moses EOC diary transcription June 28 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Moses to Oatlands.

Moses EOC diary transcription July 18 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Moses to Oatlands.  No Yanks there. 

Moses EOC diary transcription September 16 1863 Oatlands Archives

Bought a Yank horse of Moses gave twenty 

bushels of wheat
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Moses EOC diary transcription December 3 1863 Oatlands Archives

Moses went to Berlin with the ox cart + twenty 

bushels of wheat I gave him for his horse.

Moses EOC diary transcription December 5 1863 Oatlands Archives Moses came from Berlin with goods for himself.

Moses EOC diary transcription January 30 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Moses to Oatlands to get Mr. Willimson 

[Williamson's] wagon for Benny to go to 

Charlottesville on his way to Brunswick to be 

married.

Moses EOC diary transcription February 1 1864 Oatlands Archives

Moses came from Leesburg with Mr. 

Willaimson's wagon for Ben.

Moses EOC diary transcription April 20 1864 Oatlands Archives

Moses not done spading the border under the 

fence four days about.

Moses EOC diary transcription October 10 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fann, Moses + Sarah to Harper's Ferry. Got 

three gallons of coal oil [kerosene] + 8 lbs coffee.

Moses EOC diary transcription November 14 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fanny + Moses to Berlin with Jacob. Spent 

fifty dollars got very little for it.

Moses EOC diary transcription December 22 1864 Oatlands Archives Moses + Sarah insolent to Margaret

Moses EOC diary transcription February 28 1865 Oatlands Archives

Ned came from Oatlands + said Moses was in a 

dung [??] condition.

Nancy

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Nancy EOC diary transcription January 2 1861 Oatlands Archives

Nancy was sent to jail for improper conduct to 

her Master & the overseer This is probably Nancy Buchanan

Nancy EOC diary transcription January 19 1861 Oatlands Archives Sold Nancy to Mr. George Rust Earlier transcription had surname of Kerst.

Nat EOC diary transcription May 18 1868 Oatlands Archives Nat and Jackson come to Ditch in the Corn field. Nat and Jackson are probably Black men.

Ned EOC diary transcription February 23 1861 Oatlands Archives Ned brought 9 doz. Eggs from Bellefield.

Ned EOC diary transcription August 29 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Ned to Oatlands to get a hourse to thrash 

wheat

Ned EOC diary transcription June 13 1863 Oatlands Archives Moses + Ned gon [gone] to Oatlands.

Ned EOC diary transcription December 27 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent G [her son, George] four bottles of wine by 

Ned.

Ned EOC diary transcription February 28 1865 Oatlands Archives

Ned came from Oatlands + said Moses was in a 

dung [??] condition.

Ned EOC diary transcription December 25 1870 Oatlands Archives Paid Ned ten dollars for work.
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Negroe EOC diary transcription July 11 1867 Oatlands Archives

A Negroe man attempted to break in the house.  

Tommy Costelloe stays at night.

Negroes EOC diary transcription January 2 1864 Oatlands Archives

Margaret sick in bed with cold + almost all the 

negroes with the same complaint.

negroes EOC diary transcription August 14 1866 Oatlands Archives

B.G.C. [her son, Benjamin Grayson Carter] went 

to the river to pay for plank to build negroes 

houses.

In "The Freedmen's Bureau in Loudoun 

County" in The Bulletin 2007 by the 

Loudoun County Historical Society, some 

former enslavers are noted as building 

houses for formerly enslaved people who 

stayed on the property.

negroes EOC diary transcription August 23 1866 Oatlands Archives

A Yank Mr. Evans came to take the  negroe 

Census. I gave in fifteen Old and young.

Negroes EOC diary transcription May 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Negroes all gone to a large picnick [sic-picnic] at 

Upperville.

Negroes EOC diary transcription October 6 1866 Oatlands Archives The negroes have a tournament in Upperville.

negroes EOC diary transcription June 10 1867 Oatlands Archives

The negroes had a picknic [sic - picnic] in the 

grove at Llangolan.

negroes EOC diary transcription June 7 1867 Oatlands Archives

Gave all the negroes women + Children two suits 

a piece for Summer.

Nelson

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Nelson & his wife & child

no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 December 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at residence of mistress - mother 

Mary - informant: E.O. Carter, mistress [online 

index lists owner as Carter, Elizabeth O.]

no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 December 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at residence of mistress - mother 

Sophia - informant: E.O. Carter, mistress [online 

index lists owner as Carter, Elizabeth O.]

no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 November 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at residence of master - mother 

Sarah - informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

listed under E.C. Brown - was Sarah hired 

out to the Browns?

no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at residence of mistress of spasms - 

age 7 - parent Sophia - born at residence of 

mistress - source: E.O. Carter, mistress probably Sophia Moten Howard

no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - died at residence of mistress - age 7 - 

parent Mary - born at residence of mistress - 

source: E.O. Carter, mistress
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no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 August 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Dinah - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

no name

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 August 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands - age 3 days - parent 

Dinah - born at Oatlands - source: E.O.  Carter, 

mistress probably Dinah Day

no names (3)

LC Historic Records Room 

online index 1853

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

3 females - born at Oatlands - informant: E.O. 

Carter

no names (6)

LC Historic Records Room 

online index 1853

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

6 males - born at Oatlands - informant: E.O. 

Carter

Noah (Sally's child) EOC diary transcription October 12 1860 Oatlands Archives Sally has a child - boy called Noah

Parker EOC diary transcription March 21 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Parker

Parker EOC diary transcription May 11 1862 Oatlands Archives

Louisa came from O. to see Parker, who died in 

the night.

Because Louisa came to see Parker, it is 

assumed there is a family connection.

Parker EOC diary transcription May 13 1862 Oatlands Archives Parker was buried.

Pat

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Pat, for saving a calf.  .75

Pat EOC diary transcription September 2 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton, Alfred & Pat sick with Measles.

Pat EOC diary transcription November 7 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Robert C. [Costello] + Pat to Berlin with 

sixty bushels of Wheat [,] five horses + the 

wagon.

Pat EOC diary transcription November 12 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent the Wagon with Robert + Pat to Berlin with 

sixty bushels. 

Pat EOC diary transcription July 23 1864 Oatlands Archives Pat was insolent to Margaret.

Pat EOC diary transcription February 27 1865 Oatlands Archives

Set Pat to heming [sic-hemming] sheets + Sarah 

to making pillow cases.

Patrick EOC diary transcription October 30 1860 Oatlands Archives

Patrick brought sweet potatoes home & bureau 

bought at Mrs. Armistead's sale.

Patrick EOC diary transcription April 20 1861 Oatlands Archives Patrick took Turkies & butter to Leesburg.

Patrick EOC diary transcription February 26 1862 Oatlands Archives Miss M. + Patrick still very sick

Unclear but Patrick is probably an enslaved 

man

Patrick EOC diary transcription March 5 1862 Oatlands Archives Patrick to O. to bring up Books + c.

Patrick EOC diary transcription October 7 1862 Oatlands Archives Patrick got 21 1/2 bu. Lime at Nichols for $10.

Patrick EOC diary transcription July 11 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Patrick today to Upperville.

Patrick EOC diary transcription August 31 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Patrick to lime kiln got twelve bushels at 

two dollars a bushel
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Patrick EOC diary transcription September 5 1863 Oatlands Archives

Eve [,] Patrick + a cart load of children went to 

Oatlands.

Patrick EOC diary transcription November 12 1863 Oatlands Archives

Gave Patrick twenty dollars fiften for himself + 

to five to get sugar for me.

Patrick EOC diary transcription January 5 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent for Dr. Lacey to [see] Patrick.

Patrick EOC diary transcription January 12 1864 Oatlands Archives Patrick very ill.

Patrick EOC diary transcription January 14 1864 Oatlands Archives Patrick much better.

Patrick EOC diary transcription February 3 1864 Oatlands Archives Commenced giving Patrick cod liver oil.

Patrick EOC diary transcription April 5 1864 Oatlands Archives Patrick very sick.

Patrick EOC diary transcription April 11 1864 Oatlands Archives Patrick very sick.

Patrick EOC diary transcription April 12 1864 Oatlands Archives Patrick died.  Been sick for five months.

Patrick EOC diary transcription April 13 1864 Oatlands Archives Patrick buried at Bellemont.

Belmont is the Grayson estate near 

Upperville.  It is not the Belmont of the Lee 

family in eastern Loudoun.

Perry EOC diary transcription October 21 1860 Oatlands Archives

Perry here making a pump for the Armstrong 

house. Unclear if Perry is an enslaved man

Peter

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Peter, for 4 gal. cherries.  .50

Peter

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Peter, for working on a holday.  $1.00

Peter

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Peter, for grapes.  .17

Peter

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Peter, for 1 hide.  $1.00

Peter

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Peter EOC diary transcription March 11 1861 Oatlands Archives Peter cut his foot.

Peter EOC diary transcription August 4 1863 Oatlands Archives Peter came from Oatlands

Peter EOC diary transcription September 8 1863 Oatlands Archives Peter came from Oatlands for a Sorrel horse.

Peter EOC diary transcription May 3 1864 Oatlands Archives Peter went to Oatlands.

Peter EOC diary transcription July 24 1864 Oatlands Archives Peter from Oatlands.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 31 1861 Oatlands Archives

Peyton went to Upperville & returned the same 

day.

Peyton EOC diary transcription February 5 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton went to Dr. Eliason for medicine.

Peyton EOC diary transcription February 27 1861 Oatlands Archives Sent Peyton to Upperville to see Dr. Eliason.

Peyton EOC diary transcription April 19 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton went to Bellefield for butter.

Peyton EOC diary transcription September 2 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton, Alfred & Pat sick with Measles.

Peyton EOC diary transcription December 28 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton sick.
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Peyton EOC diary transcription December 31 1861 Oatlands Archives Peyton better.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 1 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. B. to see Peyton who is very sick.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 2 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton rather better.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 3 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton very sick. Sent for Dr.  B.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 4 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton very ill.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 5 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton very ill. Sophy came up.

Is Peyton Sophy/Sophia's father? Did she 

"come up" to see him?  Jacob and Sophia 

Howard had a son named Peyton.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 6 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton rather better. Dr. B. to see him.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 7 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton better.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 9 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. B. to see Peyton.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 10 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. B. to see Peyton.

Peyton EOC diary transcription January 13 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton much better.

Peyton EOC diary transcription September 20 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton came from Oatlands

Peyton EOC diary transcription July 27 1863 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Peyton.

Peyton EOC diary transcription October 23 1864 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Peyton.

Peyton EOC diary transcription October 25 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Peyton Oakley with letters.

Peyton EOC diary transcription July 12 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Peyton to Upperville.

Peyton EOC diary transcription July 30 1864 Oatlands Archives Peyton went to Oatlands.

Peyton EOC diary transcription November 3 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent to Oatlands for Mart [Martha?]. Peyton 

very ill.

Peyton EOC diary transcription November 4 1864 Oatlands Archives

Peyton died this morning about eight o'clock of 

brain fever.  Sick fifteen days.

Peyton EOC diary transcription November 5 1864 Oatlands Archives Peyton buried at Belmont.

Belmont is the Grayson property near 

Upperville, not the Belmont in Ashburn.

Phebe

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 8 1853

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - died at Oatlands of scarlet fever - age 

27 - born in Loudoun County - source: mistress

Phebe

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 May 1856

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

female - born at residence of mistress - mother 

Susan - informant: E.O. Carter, mistress [55:37 

(81)]

Philip

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 December 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Louisa - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress

Philip

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 May 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - born at E.O. Carter's - mother Laura - 

informant: E.O. Carter, mistress
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Philip

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 March 1857

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands of dropsy of brain - age 3 

months - parent Louisa - born at Oatlands - 

source: E.O. Carter, mistress

Polly

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Polly

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Polly, trip to Bellefield.  .60

Rachel EOC diary transcription April 18 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. Powell to see Rachel.

Rachel EOC diary transcription April 21 1861 Oatlands Archives Rachel better.

Rachel EOC diary transcription April 28 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. Jackson in Dr. P's absence to see Rachel.

Rachel EOC diary transcription April 29 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. J. to see Rachel - who is better.

Rachel EOC diary transcription May 5 1861 Oatlands Archives Dr. J. to see Rachel.

Rachel EOC diary transcription May 8 1861 Oatlands Archives Rachel died suddenly at 1 p.m.

Reuben

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Reuben, 2 chickens.  .25

Richard

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Robert

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Robert EOC diary transcription November 10 1862 Oatlands Archives

Van Costello came back with the Colt, leaving 

the Wagon + Robert at Flint Hill.

Robert EOC diary transcription November 12 1862 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Costello went to look after Robert who came 

back without meeting him.

Robert EOC diary transcription September 25 1863 Oatlands Archives

Robert came from Oatlands with the waggon 

[sic] + got very wet

Robert EOC diary transcription September 26 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Robert back to Oatlands with Carpets + 

other things for the House

Robert EOC diary transcription November 12 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent the Wagon with Robert + Pat to Berlin with 

sixty bushels. 

Robert EOC diary transcription November 25 1863 Oatlands Archives

Robert + Billy went to Berlin with sixty bushels 

wheat.

Robert EOC diary transcription March 23 1864 Oatlands Archives Robert drove the Carriage from Oatlands.

Robert EOC diary transcription September 6 1864 Oatlands Archives

Robert came with graps [sic] + took the wagon 

down.

Robert EOC diary transcription October 11 1864 Oatlands Archives Robert came from Oatlands with bran.

Robert EOC diary transcription December 1 1864 Oatlands Archives

Robert came from Oatlands to look after me and 

all's well at Oatlands.

Robert EOC diary transcription December 2 1864 Oatlands Archives Sent Robert to Oatlands.
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Robert EOC diary transcription May 17 1866 Oatlands Archives Robert hauling logs to Mill for Mr. Harris.

Robert EOC diary transcription September 8 1866 Oatlands Archives

Robert came from Oatlands for Corn, brought 

ten pieces of bacon Ham.

Robert EOC diary transcription November 22 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Robert to look for cattle.

Robert EOC diary transcription November 28 1866 Oatlands Archives Robert having hogs cut up.

Robert EOC diary transcription July 18 1867 Oatlands Archives Robert began to stack wheat at Moreland.

Robert EOC diary transcription November 19 1867 Oatlands Archives Salted nine hogs weight not sent in by Robert.

Robert EOC diary transcription November 27 1867 Oatlands Archives Robert making an Ice dam.

Robert EOC diary transcription December 10 1867 Oatlands Archives

Robert killed the last hogs. I had nine + he had 

nine.  Jake had four hundred lbs for his family + 

himself.

Unclear if Robert is a Black man or Robert 

Costelloe

Robert EOC diary transcription July 9 1869 Oatlands Archives Robert stacking wheat at Stony point.

Robert EOC diary transcription July 7 1870 Oatlands Archives Robert finished Harvest. First Cymblins.

Robert EOC diary transcription March 28 1871 Oatlands Archives Robert sowing plaster in the Orchard.

Robert EOC diary transcription April 6 1871 Oatlands Archives

Robert begun to sowe [sic - sow] Oats at 

Moreland.

Robert EOC diary transcription April 13 1871 Oatlands Archives Robert got home with Fish 3 thousand.

Robert EOC diary transcription May 14 1871 Oatlands Archives Robert sheared the sheep.

Robert EOC diary transcription January 30 1872 Oatlands Archives Robert shot a Rabbut [sic - rabbit] in the Garden.

Robert EOC diary transcription February 7 1872 Oatlands Archives

Robert hung the Bacon up to smoak [sic - smoke] 

yesterday.

Romeo (Dinah's child) EOC diary transcription February 9 1861 Oatlands Archives Dinah has a boy - called "Romeo"

Rose (Harriett's child) EOC diary transcription May 5 1861 Oatlands Archives Harriett has a child - girl called Rose.

Rose (Bill's child) EOC diary transcription August 7 1865 Oatlands Archives Bill took his two Children away Charles + Rose.

Rosina

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Rosina, for her hog.  $6.00

Ruth EOC diary transcription September 17 1861 Oatlands Archives Ruth brought home as a Runaway.

Sally

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Sally, for drake.  .25

Sally EOC diary transcription October 12 1860 Oatlands Archives Sally has a child - boy called Noah

Sam EOC diary transcription August 19 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sent Mr. Costellow [sic] & Sam to Berlin to get 

Salt

Sam EOC diary transcription August 20 1863 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Costelow [sic] & Sam came from Berlin 

without getting anything

Sam EOC diary transcription May 6 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent the Wagon to Oatlands with Eve + Sam to 

drive some Hogs.
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Sam EOC diary transcription February 28 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sam wagon + mules to Upperville for the 

girles [sic-girls].

Sam EOC diary transcription January 1 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sam with the wagon + mules to Oakley for 

Katie + Mittie

Sam EOC diary transcription January 14 1865 Oatlands Archives Sent Anne to Mr. Leake by Sam.

Sam Jones EOC diary transcription May 28 1865 Oatlands Archives

Harry Lee + Sam Jones took themselves off as 

freemen.

Sandy EOC diary transcription July 19 1866 Oatlands Archives Gave Sandy a hat paid one dollar + seventy cts.

Unclear if Sandy was Sandy/Alexander 

Johnson, a man formerly enslaved by EOC, 

or Sandy Powell.

Sandy EOC diary transcription April 11 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Sandy to Upperville.

Sarah EOC diary transcription November 6 1860 Oatlands Archives

Sarah was sent to Mr. Sumerford's & Ellen 

brought home.

This appears to be the hiring out of Sarah 

and Ellen, typically done at the end of the 

year.

Sarah EOC diary transcription January 24 1861 Oatlands Archives Sarah had a child - girl called "Becky"

Sarah EOC diary transcription April 7 1864 Oatlands Archives Sarah sick with mumps.

Sarah EOC diary transcription October 10 1864 Oatlands Archives

Sent Fann, Moses + Sarah to Harper's Ferry. Got 

three gallons of coal oil [kerosene] + 8 lbs coffee.

Sarah EOC diary transcription December 22 1864 Oatlands Archives Moses + Sarah insolent to Margaret

Sarah EOC diary transcription January 5 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sarah to Newstead with Ann's cloaths [sic] 

+ three pullets with some sausage.

Sarah EOC diary transcription February 27 1865 Oatlands Archives

Set Pat to heming [sic-hemming] sheets + Sarah 

to making pillow cases.

Sarah EOC diary transcription June 9 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent the wagon to Oatlands.  Sophia + Sarah 

went in it.

Sarah EOC diary transcription March 1 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sarah + Harry on the mule + my poney to 

Oatlands.

Sarah EOC diary transcription September 15 1865 Oatlands Archives Sarah had a child -- a boy.

Sarah EOC diary transcription August 20 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sarah with her family off to her Father for 

insolence to me.

Sarah EOC diary transcription January 29 1866 Oatlands Archives

Sent Sarah to Newstead to see how Ann 

Fitzhugh is.

Sarah EOC diary transcription June 28 1866 Oatlands Archives Sent Sarah to get raspberries.

Scott

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 2 1853

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands of sf [scarlet fever] - age 

8 months - source: mistress
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Servants EOC diary transcription July 11 1862 Oatlands Archives

Servants came from O [Oatlands] to finish the 

harvest

servants EOC diary transcription December 27 1863 Oatlands Archives

Got a letter from Katie sayin George had the 

mumps + that all the servants had it.

servants EOC diary transcription August 14 1870 Oatlands Archives

[EOC was sick in bed.] My servants very Kind + 

attentive to me.

Sina EOC diary transcription August 12 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Sina one dollar for Chickens.

Solomon

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse Solomon [,] wife and children

Solomon

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 December 9 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands of dropsy - age 60 - 

parent Cela - born at Oatlands - source: E.O. 

Carter

Solomon EOC diary transcription January 28 1863 Oatlands Archives

Eve went down to see her father, who is very 

low. Charlie & Solomon went to stay.

Sophy [Sophia] EOC diary transcription January 5 1862 Oatlands Archives Peyton very ill. Sophy came up.

Is Peyton Sophy/Sophia's father? Did she 

"come up" to see him?  Jacob and Sophia 

Howard had a son named Peyton.

Sophy [Sophia] EOC diary transcription December 24 1862 Oatlands Archives

Sophy + Jake married in the dining room by Mr. 

K. [Kinsolving]. Sophia Moten/Moton and Jacob Howard

Sophia EOC diary transcription October 27 1863 Oatlands Archives

Sophia had a Daughter last night only sick about 

ten mnuts [minutes].

Sophia EOC diary transcription July 28 1865 Oatlands Archives Paid Sophia one dollar for five chicks.

Sophia EOC diary transcription June 9 1865 Oatlands Archives

Sent the wagon to Oatlands.  Sophia + Sarah 

went in it.

Sophia EOC diary transcription February 26 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Sophia five dollars for her work on her 

wages.

Sophia EOC diary transcription December 21 1866 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jake 20 $ twenty dollars on his wages. Five 

to Sophia Eve Hannah Delia + ten to Fan $ and 

five to Julius.

Sophia EOC diary transcription January 11 1867 Oatlands Archives

Upon my settlement with Jake + Sophia I owe 

the two one hundred + twenty five $ for the year 

1866.

Sophie [Sophia] EOC diary transcription July 18 1867 Oatlands Archives

Fan[,] Delia[,] Jake + Sophie struck up a fight in 

my yard + Delia went off.

Sophia EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes.

Sophia EOC diary transcription June 16 1869 Oatlands Archives Got six Chickens of Sophia $1.50.
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Sophia EOC diary transcription December 23 1869 Oatlands Archives Paid Sophia fifteen $.

Sophia EOC diary transcription December 1 1871 Oatlands Archives Sophia sick.

Sophia Howard EOC diary transcription December 24 1870 Oatlands Archives

Paid Sophia Howard fifty dollars.  I now owe her 

50 dollars more.

Sophia Howard EOC diary transcription March 23 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard + Sophia his wife by check on 

Berke + Herbert one hundred dollars + ten 

dollars in money setting up their account in full 

to January 1, 1871 their wages.

Sophia Howard EOC diary transcription December 30 1871 Oatlands Archives

Paid Jacob Howard + wife Sophia their wages 

two hundred and thirty dollars in full of all 

demands to date.

Sophia Howard EOC diary transcription December 9 1873 Oatlands Archives

Paid two hund [hundred] and thirty dollars 

wages for Jacob Howard + Sophia his wife in full 

of all accounts to date.

Spencer

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Spencer EOC diary transcription November 13 1863 Oatlands Archives Spencer came from Oatlands with four shoats.

Spencer EOC diary transcription November 14 1863 Oatlands Archives Sent Spencer to Oatlands.

Spencer

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Spencer, for cherries.  .30

Sukey

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Sukey, for extra work.  .25

Susan

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Tascar [Tasker]

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Deaths 1853-1866 July 1855

Loudoun County 

Courthouse online 

index

male - died at Oatlands of dysentery - age 2 - 

parent Louisa - born at Oatlands - source: E.O. 

Carter

Tasker

Loudoun County Slave 

Issues: Births 1853-1859 January 1 1854

male - born at Oatlands - mother Louisa - 

informant: E.O. Carter

Tasker (Clara's child) EOC diary transcription July 20 1861 Oatlands Archives Clara has a boy. Called Tasker.

Teana EOC diary transcription June 3 1868 Oatlands Archives

Got a Box from Baltimore. Delivered to Fan Eve 

Sophia Hannah Teana Jake Julius + Armestead all 

their sumer cloathes. Possibly Tina, as in Tina Jackson.

Teana EOC diary transcription November 2 1869 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan one hundred + two dollars wages for 

herself and daughter Teana in full to date of all 

demands of any of the family.
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Teaner EOC diary transcription January 2 1868 Oatlands Archives

Fan + three boys with Tener are to stay with me 

at one hundred dollars a year.  I cloathe Fan + 

Teaner + she cloaths the three boys.  I like Annie 

very much so far.

Tena EOC diary transcription November 3 1869 Oatlands Archives

Paid Fan one hundred + twelve dollars for 

herself + Tena wages in full of all accounts to 

date November 3, 1869 + then dismissed Fan + 

all her family for there [sic - their] impertenence 

and disrespectful conduct to me + MSG [Mary S. 

Grayson]

Tina EOC diary transcription September 28 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Tina.

Possibly Tina Jackson, age 17, in 1870 

Census. Living in a household with Fannie 

Smith, age 51 [possibly Jackson], Delia 

Jackson age 23, and Henry Jackson, age 6. 

See entry for Delia Jackson.

Tina EOC diary transcription October 1 1862 Oatlands Archives Dr. Lacy to see Tina.

Tinny

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

Tishy EOC diary transcription January 22 1861 Oatlands Archives Tishy had a child. Boy called "Guy"

Tom EOC diary transcription February 11 1861 Oatlands Archives

Mr. Donohue & Walter Rogers paid Tom's hire + 

rent of _____

Tom EOC diary transcription March 18 1863 Oatlands Archives

Tom came from Oatlands + brought the horse 

for Mr. Franklin.

Tom EOC diary transcription December 17 1864 Oatlands Archives

Tom + Lewis stole a horse belonging to Mr. 

Lufborough + went to Washington to the Yanks. 

They went from Oatlands.

Tom EOC diary transcription December 19 1864 Oatlands Archives Tom brought oranges + beans.

Tom EOC diary transcription August 3 1868 Oatlands Archives George sent Tom to say he could not come up.

Tom Carpenter

Will Book 2C:187 [will of 

George Carter] May 20 1842

Loudoun County 

Courthouse

"The following slaves are antiquated. I bequeath 

them to my dear wife who I have every 

confidence in both as to her kindness and 

humanity to wit."

Tommy EOC diary transcription June 21 1862 Oatlands Archives

Tommy went for G's saddlebags, but Mr. 

Showers was out.

Tyler EOC diary transcription September 19 1872 Oatlands Archives Tyler come from Selkirk.

Tyler EOC diary transcription December 4 1872 Oatlands Archives

Got 18 yds linzey for the Womo [women] + 

cloathe [clothes] for Julius + Tyler.
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Wallice (Wallace?) EOC diary transcription May 21 1865 Oatlands Archives

Wallice walked off sayin he was free + was goin 

out for wages.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription March 23 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent dear Ben a bundle of Baby Cloathes by 

Westley.

This is possibly Wesley Nelson, husband of 

Jennie Nelson.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription April 1 1867 Oatlands Archives

Sent Westley to Oakley to see after Kate + dear 

Georgie.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription April 2 1867 Oatlands Archives Sent Westley to Oakley.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription April 16 1867 Oatlands Archives

Wesley went to Oatlands with Kate's furniture 

that her mother gave her + was left till it could 

be sent to her.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription June 19 1867 Oatlands Archives

Westley came from Oatlands with some cherries 

[and] Early Yors [Yorks]. A York is a type of cabbage.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription January 23 1868 Oatlands Archives Wesley took George's hog home in the Sleigh.

Westley/Wesley/Wesly EOC diary transcription March 14 1868 Oatlands Archives Got a door mat from Wesley 50 cts.

William

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia William, instead of winter coat.  $2.00

Willy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia 0.25

Willy

List of Slave Expenditures 

kept by B. Grayson

1846-

1848

WPA Inventory at 

Library of Virginia Loaned Willy to buy 2 pigs.  (sum not stated)
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